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Introduction 

This Strategic Report has been prepared solely to provide additional information to shareholders to assess the Company’s 
strategies and the potential for those strategies to succeed. 
 
The Strategic Report contains certain forward-looking statements. These statements are made by the Directors in good faith 
based on the information available to them up to the time of their approval of this report and such statements should be 
treated with caution due to the inherent uncertainties, including both economic and business risk factors, underlying any 
such forward-looking information. 
 
The Directors, in preparing this Strategic Report, have complied with s414C of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
This Strategic Report has been prepared for the Group as a whole and therefore gives greater emphasis to those matters 
which are significant to Salamander Energy plc and its subsidiary undertakings when viewed as a whole. 
 
The Strategic Report discussed the following areas: 
 

Fair review of the Group’s business Page 2 

Operational summary and Business model Page 8 

Key performance indicators Page 9 

Principal risks and uncertainties Page 10 
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Review of the business is discussed in the following sections: 

• Operational review 

• Financial review 
 

Operational review 
 

Highlights 

Our 2018 operational activities included phase 4 on the Bualuang oil field which is split into two parts in effect work 
relating to 2018 and 2019, which we refer to respectively as Phase 4A and Phase 4B. The Kerendan field has continued to 
produce steadily in line with expectations at an average daily rate in 2018 of 16.8 MMscfd (gross). We have started to see 
the beginning of the natural reservoir decline, with the majority of production now coming from two of the four wells. On 
the 6 September 2018 we completed the acquisition of a package of Southeastern Asian assets from Santos. This consisted 
of three producing assets (i) a 31.875% working interest in the Block 12W PSC in Vietnam (ii) a 45% operated interest in the 
Sampang PSC in Indonesia and (iii) a 67.5% operated interest in the Madura Offshore PSC in Indonesia for a total cash 
consideration of $148.7 million.  
 
Our production base averaged 17,100 boepd. This delivered revenues of $298 million, net of hedging (excluding 
Sinphuhorm which is equity accounted), up $109 million or 58% on 2017 and included the first full year of production and 
cash flow contribution from the Kerendan field. 
 
Looking to 2019 our focus going forward is to build a strong, cash generative production base which will serve as a platform 
to support both further growth. The addition of the new production assets in Vietnam and Indonesia was a first step in this 
direction.  
 
Bualuang, Thailand (26.8 MMbo 2P, 10.3 MMbo net 2C) 
 
Production at the Bualuang oil field averaged 8,100 boepd across the year, which was supported by stable production with 
uptime of approximately 98%. The objective of Phase 4A was to boost production from the existing facilities and comprised 
drilling three new producing wells and four workovers, plus some preparatory project work ahead of Phase 4B, as well as 
the drilling of an exploration well testing  a near-field prospect, B8/38-11, which was unsuccessful.  
 
The drilling campaign commenced six weeks later than envisaged due to a combination of poor weather and the late arrival 
of the rig. Once the rig was on location the team did  a first class job executing the campaign and completed it safely, 38 
days faster than planned and approximately 20% under budget. 
 
Phase 4B will see a new, 12 slot, conductor-supported platform, called the Charlie platform, installed at the Bualuang field. 
We will also increase the water disposal capacity from 75,000 barrels per day to 100,000 barrels per day; this extra fluid-
handling capacity will help with recovery. 
 
The platform is currently under construction in the Naval Shipyard at Sattahip by BJC Heavy Industry and is expected to be 
lowered into place in June to facilitate the start of drilling in July 2019. During the shutdown for installation, we will take 
the opportunity to make repairs and upgrades to Alpha and Bravo platform equipment. First oil from the Charlie platform is 
expected in October 2019 and, on completion of the Phase 4 programme, field production is expected to peak at 14,000 
bopd.
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Kerendan, Indonesia (14.3 MMboe 2P, 80.6 MMboe net 2C) 
 
The Kerendan field has continued to produce steadily in line with expectations at an average daily rate in 2018 of  
16.8 MMscfd (gross). We have started to see the beginning of the natural reservoir decline, with the majority of production 
now coming from two of the four wells. We are planning stimulation through acid fracture work in June 2019, which we 
hope will restore the productivity of the existing K4 and K6 wells. 
 
Interpretation is well underway on the 3D seismic that was completed at the end of 2017. This has helped to better define 
the reservoir distribution and together with the latest audit by ERCE indicates that the contingent resources in the field 
have increased from 457 Bcf (gross) to 583 Bcf. Our internal view is that we have up to 1.9 Tcf of gas in place across the 
whole Kerendan structure, all connected. 
 
However, to sell any more gas, we need to have the reserves certified by LAPI ITB, an approved Indonesian government 
body. They are currently completing their work, but we have no reason to believe their opinion will materially differ from 
our internal view. 
 
Even taking into account that the PSC will expire in 2033, it is clear that there is material potential resource at Kerendan.  
The challenge is finding new routes to commercialisation, and then finding an engineering solution to satisfy the 
commercial solution. Our new team in Indonesia is working on this and we believe we have significantly strengthened our 
expertise in this area post the integration of the former Santos team. 
 
Sinphuhorm, Thailand (5.7 MMboe 2P, 3.4 MMboe net 2C) 
 
Operated by PTTEP, production from the Sinphuhorm field averaged 79 MMscfd (gross). This was in line with budget and 
approximately flat year on year. The trend for lower nominations from the Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand 
(EGAT) that we saw at the end of 2017 continued in the first quarter of 2018 before demand recovered to more than 100 
MMscfd for most of the rest of the year. 
 
Whilst encouraged by the stronger demand witnessed for large parts of 2018, we expect there to remain a certain degree 
of volatility in the nominations for EGAT during 2019. 
 
Madura Offshore and Sampang, Indonesia (12.9 MMboe 2P) 

As part of the Santos package, we acquired these gas assets in East Java.  
Madura Offshore contains stable production from the Maleo and Peluang fields, and the group has a 67.5% operated 
interest in the PSC.  
 
Maleo has been producing since 2006 and is past the plateau, in the decline phase. Its output is sold to PGN and PLN 
through the East Java pipeline. Production was 57% above budget in 2018, partly due to higher gas demand but also due to 
better reservoir performance, so we see some potential upside. Peluang started producing in 2014 and is on plateau 
production at the moment. It has also over-produced, at 15% above its budget, mainly due to higher gas demand. 
 
We have also decided to invest in the Meliwis field, discovered in 2016, 11 kilometres south of the Maleo field. The Meliwis 
development is planned as a single well well-head platform tie-back to Maleo, and would extend the economic field life of 
the Maleo and Peluang fields. Final investment sign off by the joint venture was achieved in February with the signing of a 
gas sales agreement. Our share of the PSC is 77.5%, the local partner having declined to participate in the drilling of the 
successful exploration well. 



Strategic Report (continued) 
Operational review continued  
 

Salamander Energy plc Annual Report and Accounts for 2018      Page 4       

 

Madura Offshore and Sampang (Continued) 

In Sampang, the Oyong field was found back in 2001 and Wortel five years later.  They were put on production in 2007 and 
2012 respectively. Oyong is producing gas, Wortel is producing gas and condensate.  All production is piped onshore to the 
processing site at Grati. Together, the Oyong and Wortel fields produced at 33% above budget during 2018, primarily due 
to higher than forecast gas demand. We will be looking at revising our subsurface models next year, with a view to adding 
other gas reservoirs.  
 
We also drilled a successful gas exploration well at Paus Biru-1, 27 km east of Oyong, noted in the exploration commentary 
below, and will be looking to achieve reserves certification in 2019 as a step towards FID. We believe pressure-lowering 
projects at the Grati processing plant will create further economic value from the fields through extending production life 
in Oyong and Wortel. 
 
In Sampang there is potential upside from two undeveloped discoveries already on the block. We also see substantial 
exploration upside within both Sampang and Madura Offshore blocks – however accessing this upside would require PSC 
extensions as both blocks currently expire in 2027. 
 
Chim Sao/Dua field, 12W PSC, Vietnam (10.5 MMboe net 2P) 

Part of the Santos acquisition, the Chim Sao and Dua oil fields in Vietnam are operated by Premier Oil. Chim Sao, the main 

field, has consistently produced over budget in the past few years and continued this trend in 2018 – outperforming budget 

by 18%. 

In the initial development plan, these fields were expected to produce until around 2020. However, due to the continued 

outperformance, the fields are now expected to produce out until 2030. Premier has begun a field-life extension assessment 

of all the facilities, most critically the well head platform and main field flow lines which had 10-year design lives (in line with 

the original development plan). By 2020 the necessary modifications will have been completed. 

In 2019 the operator is planning to conduct a series of well interventions that will help offset the natural reservoir decline 

rates. Ophir is currently building its own field reservoir model and plans to work with the operator in 2019 to determine the 

optimum way to create value from these fields in the coming years.
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Daily Average Production 

 boepd 
FY 2018 

Proforma1 
FY 2018  

IFRS 
FY 

2017 

Bangkanai 2,300 2,300 2,100 

Madura Offshore 6,200 2,000 n/a 

Sampang 3,100 1,000 n/a 

B8/38 8,100 8,100 8,400 

Block 12W 8,700 2,400 n/a 

Sinphuhorm 1,300 1,300 1,200 

Total  29,700 17,100 11,700 
1 On a proforma basis accounting for the Santos acquisition from effective date 1/1/18 

Key financial indicators 

  Units 2018 2017 

Income statement:    

Realised prices1:    

- Oil  $/bbl 66.62 51.15 

- Gas (excluding Sinphuhorm) $/Mscf 5.94 5.18 

Revenue $’millions 298.2 188.5 

Operating costs per boe2 $/boe 11.67 11.43 

Profit/(loss) before taxation $’millions 113.2 0.6 

Taxation  $’millions 51.9 72.9 

Balance sheet:  
  

Capital expenditures:  
  

- Exploration and appraisal $’millions 15.4 21.3 

- Development and production $’millions 60.0 43.9 

Net debt3 $’millions 95.5 16.8 

Gearing4 % 17 7 

Cash flow statement:    

Cash generated from operations $’millions 192.0 139.6 

Taxation payment $’millions 70.5 9.8 

Cash generated from operations per boe5 $/boe 30.76 32.68 
 
1 Realised prices are calculated as revenue divided by quantities of oil, condensate and gas sold. 
2 Operating costs per boe is defined as operating costs divided by working interest production. 
3 See note 22 to the consolidated Financial Statements for further details 
4 Gearing is defined as net debt divided by net debt plus book equity 
5 Net cash flows generated from operating activities per boe is defined as net cash flows generated from operating activities divided by working interest production.  

 
The Group’s deployment of capital is driven by a focus on returns. Our overriding priority is to rapidly and safely monetise 
our substantial, low risk assets. 
 
The financial environment for the UK upstream exploration and production sector in 2018 was one of continual change. The 
early stability in the first half reversed in the fourth quarter with broader macro political concerns driven by uncertainty over 
Brexit and continued tension in the trading relationship between the US and China, and growing consensus around the view 
that the days of low interest rates may be over. 
 
The Brent oil price started the year at $67 per bbl, climbing to a peak of $87 per bbl in October, only to decline to a low of 
$50 per bbl in mid-December with concerns centred around a perceived over supply to the market, and finishing the year at 
$54 per bbl. In addition, the buoyant debt markets we witnessed in the first half of the year turned-around in the fourth 
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quarter with both bank and debt capital markets contracting. The beginning of 2019 saw the continued recovery of oil prices, 
reaching a high of $67 per bbl in February 2019. 
 
Despite the broader market concerns, we were able to make progress against our strategic objectives, increasing our 
production and cash flow base and strengthening the balance sheet. Delivery on the strategic objectives is discussed in 
context of the financial results below 
 
Statement of comprehensive income 
Gross profit 
Following completion in September of the acquisition of oil and gas properties in Indonesia and Vietnam, and reflecting 
production for the new licences from the acquisition date, production for 2018 averaged 17,100 boepd (2017: 11,700 boepd). 
This comprised oil and liquids of 10,500 bpd (2017: 8,700 bpd), realising an average price of $67 per bbl (2017: $51 per bbl) 
and generating revenue of $244 million (2017: $170 million), net of hedging. Similarly, gas production for the year was 37.2 
MMscfd (2017: 16.1 MMscfd), realising an average price of $5.94 per Mscf (2017: $5.18 per Mscf) and generating revenue 
of $55 million (2017: $19 million) and dividend income from Sinphuhorm of $7 million (2017: $7 million). Accordingly, 
production increased by 46% year on year (2017: 9%) with revenue increased by 58% (2017: 76%). 
 
For 2018, we entered into two commodity price hedge programmes with the financial effect of the hedges predominantly 
accounted for in revenue. Our strategy is to hedge commodity prices on a defensive basis, protecting downside cash flow 

exposure to commodity price fluctuations whilst preserving as much upside cash flow exposure as possible. In late 2017, we 
entered into a programme against our full year 2018 Bualuang production for 3,200 bpd by selling a Brent swap at 
approximately $60 per bbl and buying a Brent call at approximately $68 per bbl. With Brent prices averaging $72 per bbl 
during 2018, we booked a charge to revenue of $8 million against the hedge. In August, we entered into a second 
programme against the newly acquired Vietnam Block 12W production for 2,000 bpd by selling a Brent swap at 
approximately $70 per bbl and buying a Brent call at approximately $78 per bbl. With Brent pricing averaging $71 per bbl 
over the period of the hedge, it approximately broke even in 2018. Both programmes combined represented about 13% of 
our pro-forma total 2018 production and 25% of our pro-forma company’s oil and condensate production. 
 
Cost of sales totalled $193 million (2017: $142 million) and included operating costs of $73 million or $12 per boe (2017: $49 
million or $11 per boe). Cost of sales also included royalties payable of $19 million (2017: $14 million), which arise on a sliding 
scale of revenue. Ultimately, we delivered a gross profit of $105 million (2017: $47 million). 
 
Following the acquisition of oil and gas properties in Indonesia and Vietnam, a gain on purchase was recorded of $58 million 
being the excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired over the purchase consideration. 
 
We consequently reported an operating profit of $142 million (2017: $19 million). 
 
Profit before taxation 
We reported a profit before taxation of $113 million (2017: $0.6 million), which included finance costs of $30 million (2017: 
$21 million). We entered into two new financing arrangements during the year, which resulted in capitalised arrangement 
and other fees for extinguished borrowings of $11 million (2017: $7 million) being fully amortised in the year.  
 
Balance sheet 
Non-current assets 
Our non-current assets base increased by $313 million to $1,038 million reflecting predominantly the acquisition of oil and 
gas properties in Indonesia and Vietnam.  
 
Oil and gas properties included $278 million (2017: nil) for the acquisitions in Indonesia and Vietnam, which included a non-
cash deferred income tax charge gross up of $96 million and profit booked on acquisition of $58 million.  
Oil and gas properties additions of $60 million (2017: $44 million) included expenditure in Indonesia of $9 million (2017: 
$13 million), Thailand of $41 million (2017: $31 million) and Vietnam of $10 million (2017: nil). 
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Other long-term receivables increased by $70 million (2017: nil) with the acquisition of the abandonment and site 
restoration funds as part of the acquisition of oil and gas properties in Indonesia and Vietnam. These accounts accumulate 
funds over time to meet future decommissioning expenses. 
 
Current assets 
The Company ended the period with cash and cash equivalents of $263 million (2017: $88 million).  
 
Non-current liabilities 

Non-current liabilities at year-end totalled $647 million (2017: $343 million), an increase of $304 million reflecting 
increased long term drawn borrowings of $143 million, and with the acquisition of oil and gas properties in Indonesia and 
Vietnam, increased provisions for decommissioning of $80 million and increase in deferred  tax liability of $79 million.  
 
Additionally, we entered into a $130 million, 18-month bridge facility in September to partly fund the acquisition of oil and 
gas properties in Indonesia and Vietnam. In September we drew-down $103 million of the bridge facility. Subsequently, in 
December we refinanced the bridge facility and our $250 million seven-year reserve based lending facility into a new $350 
million seven-year reserves based lending facility, with a maturity of 31 December 2025. The borrowing base amount under 
the new reserve based lending facility was agreed with lenders at $322 million for the availability period 1 January 2019 to 
30 June 2019. In July we drew $150 million against the reserves based lending facility, and then in January 2019, we drew a 
further $100 million. 
 
The proceeds of the draw down in January 2019 were used to fully repay the outstanding amount of $103 million against 
the bridge facility. 
 
At the end of the year there remained $104 million (2017: $102 million) outstanding for the Nordic bond. The Nordic bond 
matures on 6 January 2020 and we intend to refinance the bond well ahead of it maturing. 
 
Financial outlook 

2019 production is forecast at 25,000 boepd. We will complete workovers at Kerendan and replace electric submersible 
pumps at Bualuang. 
 
In November we entered into a further commodity price hedge programme against 2019 Bualuang production for 2,000 
bopd by selling a Brent swap for approximately $56 per bbl and buying a Brent call for approximately $66 per bbl. For 2019, 
we have hedged approximately 16% of our total production, equivalent to 29% of our oil and liquids production. Further 
hedge programmes may be entered into during 2019 on a defensive basis against production in 2019 and 2020. 
 
 
2019 oil and gas properties expenditure is forecast at $105 million compared to the 2018 out-turn of $49 million and 
includes Bualuang Phase 4 development, with the construction and hook-up of the Charlie platform and with the drilling of 
up to 12 new infill wells, and Meliwis development expenditure following the FID in 1Q 2019.
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Business model 

The Group aims to create sustainable business model with material cash flow to support investment and returns to 
shareholders. 
 
The Group concentrates on a small number of asset positions, or hubs, that each offer production, development and 
exploration opportunities. Salamander typically holds operatorship and controls the scale, scope and pace of implementation 
of the work programme across its asset base.  
 
Within each hub, the group benefits from technical, operational and financial synergies from its combined production, 
development and exploration activities. This helps the Group to control costs and build up a detailed understanding of the 
sub-surface in the areas in which the Group operates. 
 
In order to be able to deliver on our work programmes we maintain a well-respected regional operating capability which 
includes recognising the need to complete our operations safely and responsibly. 
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KPIs provide an illustration of management ability to successfully deliver against the strategic objectives. 
 

  Working interest 
production (boepd) 

Operating costs ($ per boe) Lost time injury frequency (per 
million man hours) 

Post-tax operating cash flow 
($ per boe) 

2017 11,724 11.43 0 30.38 

2018 17,100 11.67 0 19.47 

Definition The average daily 
production associated with 
the Group’s economic 
interest in its producing 
assets.  

The average cost across the 
year of producing a barrel of 
oil equivalent of commercial 
hydrocarbons.  

A work related injury that results 
in the individual being unable to 
report for work the following 
day/shift. 

The free cash flow that is 
generated from a barrel of 
production.  

Relevance Production is the source of 
the Group’s cash flow and 
as such the key driver of its 
finances.  

The lower the operating cost 
base the greater the cash 
generation from production. 
A lower cost base will also 
prolong the field’s 
productive life.  

This metric is used to provide 
guidance as to the Group’s HSE 
performance. 

The greater the post-tax 
operating cash flow per boe 
the more cash is generated 
from production to fund 
planned capital expenditure.  

Risk 
management 

Diversifying the production 
base. Maintaining high 
standards of HSE. 

Extensive planning pre-
investment, cost engineering 
and estimating with 
experienced resources. 

The Group targets zero Lost Time 
Injuries every year and has an 
active HSE plan to help try to 
achieve this. 

Hedging policy to control cash 
flow volatility.  
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The Group focused on a more cash generative business model in 2018 in regards to SE Asia. This change modified some of 
our risks but did not impact our risk management process. The Board has determined the business’s risk appetite, considering 
the risks that could impede or threaten its strategic objectives, and has also reviewed the control measures in place to 
mitigate these risks. 
 

Risk management 
 

Internally, the Ophir Energy plc Group monitors and mitigates a more comprehensive list of risks through the its risk 
register, which is adopted by Salamander Energy plc and continues to be a vital component of our risk management 
process. It should be noted, for completeness, that there may be additional risks unknown to the company and other risks, 
currently believed to be immaterial, which could turn out to be material. In addition, it should be noted that not all of the 
risks and uncertainties set out below are within our control. 
For clarity, we have indicated how our principal risks are linked to our strategic objectives.  
 
We have removed counterparty and portfolio risk from the principal risks. Portfolio risk was associated with exploration 
finding costs and because we have shifted towards a P&D strategy it no longer warrants being a principal risk. 
 

Risk Description of Risk Control Responsibility 
Funding –– Failure to forecast and work within our 

financial structure could impact our 
liquidity and lead to an inability to deliver 
the business plan. 
–– Revenues, profitability and cash flows 
concentrated in a fairly small number of 
producing assets. 
–– The Group may face the possibility of 
future decommissioning costs that it cannot 
accurately predict. 
–– Inability to access internal or external 
funding. 
–– Extension of oil and gas licences. 

 

–– An ongoing strategic objective is to optimise the use of our 
capital by capturing highest commercial returns on our assets and 
exploration opportunities. 
–– Regular review of cash flow, working capital and funding 
options, and prudent approach to budgeting and planning, to 
ensure sufficient capital to meet commitments. 
–– Effective portfolio management via farm outs/asset sales as 
appropriate. 
–– Budget focused on high and medium ranked assets/projects to 
deliver value creation and to ensure the Group can live within its 
means. 
–– A formalised annual budget process and ongoing monthly 
reviews and analysis of actuals. 
–– Board approval of Annual Work Programme. 
–– Diversify the sources of funding and apply prudent levels of 
debt to production activities. 

Chief Financial Officer 

HSE Incident –– Loss of containment leading to major 
environmental incident. 
–– Oil and gas exploration, development 
and production can present challenging 
operational environments and means we 
are exposed to a wide range of health, 
safety, security and environmental risks. 
–– Our most significant risks are: 
–– The potential loss of hydrocarbon 
containment caused by technical integrity 
failure, human error, natural disasters or 
other unforeseen events. 
–– The risk of harm to our workforce during 
transportation. 
–– Major health, safety, security or 
environmental risk events could lead to 
regulatory action and legal liability, 
including 

–– An ongoing strategic objective is to execute operations safely with 
excellence. 
–– Ophir is committed to maintaining robust health, safety, security and 
environmental management, and procedures are in place in order to 
respond to unexpected events that have a direct impact on 
the Group and the communities in which it works. 
–– Comprehensive HSE and operations management systems including 
emergency response and oil spill response capability, as well as 
maintaining asset integrity. 
–– Active security monitoring and management. 
–– Learning from Group and third-party incidents. 
–– Monitoring through leading indicators the highest HSE risk events. 
–– The contracting and procurement process ensures suitably qualified 
contractors are employed and trained in Ophir’s requirements and 
industry best practices. 

Director Asia 
Operations and 
Director Exploration 
and Africa 

Investment –– Lack of suitable value adding 
opportunities and/or failure to 
execute/inability to fund P&D acquisitions. 
–– The Group may not be able to identify 
appropriate expansion opportunities or be 
able to manage such expansion effectively. 

–– Investments are not dictated by production or reserves growth targets; 
instead each investment will be assessed on an IRR and materiality basis. 
–– Focus on growing a revenue generating business. 
–– Allocate capital to highest return opportunities following rigorous risk 
reward analysis. 
–– Risk assessment and due diligence process is undertaken on all 
potential new country entries. 
–– Ophir endeavours to transact at the most appropriate time to create 
value for shareholders. 

Director Asia 
Operations and 
Director Exploration 
and Africa 
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Compliance –– The Group conducts business in 
jurisdictions that have been allocated low 
scores on Transparency International’s 
‘‘Corruption Perceptions Index’’, and 
where changes in the regulatory and 
legislative environment are possible. 
–– Ethical wrong doing and non-
compliance, or failure to accurately report 
our data, can lead to litigation against the 
Group which could materially impact 
our strategy. Potential impacts could be: 
–– Reputational damage leading to 
withdrawal of support by shareholders, 
governments, lenders and/or co-venture 
partners. 
–– Litigation and regulatory action leading 
to penalties and business disruption from 
investigation leading to unplanned cost 
impact. 
–– Loss of assets, PSCs and projects. 
–– Prosecution. 

–– Top down leadership of the Group’s values. 
–– We have a strong Code of Conduct which all employees and 
contractors are expected to follow. 
–– There is a Group Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy in place. 
–– Compliance training is conducted across the Group. 
–– Due diligence is carried out on counterparties and in our contract 
management. 
–– There are anti-bribery and corruption provisions in our agreements. 
–– Compliance controls and actions are reviewed at Board and its 
Committees. 
–– Annual employee sign off confirming their observance of the Code of 
Conduct, Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy and the Gifts and Hospitality 
standard. 
–– A ‘Letter of Assurance’ is signed off annually by management. 
–– Monitoring of key leading indicators. 
–– All material information is released to the market on a timely basis and 
in accordance with all applicable regulations. 

General Counsel & 
Company Secretary 

Market 
Sentiment 

–– Adverse market sentiment and capital 
constraints due to competition for capital. 
–– The impact can negatively affect project 
value and modelling. 

–– An ongoing strategic objective is to grow a revenue generating 
business. 
–– Deliver an appropriate capital structure to internally fund the addition 
of production assets and monetisation of resources to generate 
sustainable cash flow. 

Chief Financial Officer 

Commodity 
Price 

–– We are more dependent on commodity 
price than previously and negative 
changes can lead to loss of value and have 
an adverse effect on revenue, 
margins, profitability and cash flow 

–– Continue to review the Group’s cost structure and make sure it reflects 
the new oil price environment. 
–– Pursue acquisition opportunities that seek to protect shareholder 
value. 
–– Manage balance sheet strength. 

Chief Financial Officer 

Climate 
Change 

–– The global ambition to limit mean 
temperature rise to below 2⁰C above pre-
industrial levels will potentially require 
significant and sustained reductions in fossil 
fuel emissions. 
–– It is hard to predict what changes in 
laws, regulations and obligations relating to 
man made climate change will be, but they 
may increase costs, reduce value and 
constrain future opportunities. 

–– Continue to develop the Company’s strategy to reflect climate change 
trends. 
–– Continue to report in line with CDP and the Global Reporting Initiative. 

Director Corporate 
Risk and Services 

Political –– We are exposed to a variety of changes 
in the macro environment around 
global affairs and international economics 
that are leading to greater global 
economic uncertainty. 
–– At a more micro-level, the Group 
operates in jurisdictions that are subject 
to significant political, economic, legal, 
regulatory and social uncertainties 
which could lead to licence appropriation. 
–– The impacts can affect the safety of our 
people, operational continuity and 
lead to a loss in value and uncertain 
financial outcomes. 

–– Ophir regularly monitors and seeks to understand changes taking place 
in political and regulatory environments although it is often hard to 
forecast the timing and gravity of political events. 
–– The Group works to the highest industry standards with regulators, 
closely monitoring compliance with the Group’s licence and PSC 
obligations. 
–– Appropriate legal agreements are in place to protect our interests. 
–– When reviewing new positions/acquisitions we evaluate and compare 
the potential political risks within our portfolio. 

Director Corporate 
Risk and Services 

Debt Financing –– The Group’s business will require 
significant capital expenditure and the 
future expansion and development of its 
business could require future debt and 
equity financing. The future availability of 
such funding is not certain. 

–– Strong financial stewardship – manage commitments and liquidity, 
monitor delivery of business plan, forecast accuracy – build credibility. 
–– Effective management of debt covenants. 
–– Maintain strong relationships with lending banks throughout the year. 
–– Effective corporate governance procedures and controls in place to 
manage compliance with relevant regulatory/filing requirements. 
–– Strong balance sheet. 

Chief Financial Officer 
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Approval of Strategic Report 
 

This Strategic Report was approved by the board of directors and signed on its behalf by: 

 
 
Tony Rouse 
Director 
2 May 2019 
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Directors’ Report 

The Directors submit their report together with the audited Consolidated and Parent Company Financial Statements of 
Salamander Energy plc for the year ended 31 December 2018. This report is required to be produced by law and its contents 
are prescribed in the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”). The liabilities of the Directors in connection with the Directors’ Report 
shall be subject to the limitations and restrictions provided in the Act. 
 
The Company 

Salamander Energy plc is a company incorporated in England and Wales, with company number 05934263. As at 31 
December 2018, it was the holding company of the Group and trades principally through its subsidiary undertakings in 
various jurisdictions. The subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled undertakings are listed in note 16 to the accounts. 
 
The Group’s head office is in London with regional offices in Thailand, Indonesia, Malaysia and Vietnam. 
 
The Directors 

The Directors who served in office during the financial year and subsequently were as follows: 
 

   Appointed 

Nick Cooper (Resigned 13 July 2018)  2 March 2015 

Tony Rouse  
2 March 2015 

Alan Booth  13 July 2018 

Oliver Quinn  13 July 2018 

 
Directors’ interests  
A list of Directors is shown above. None of the directors listed have interests in the ordinary share capital of the Company 
or options granted over the ordinary share capital of the Company. There were no changes to the Directors’ interests 
between 31 December 2018 and the date of signing this Directors’ Report. No Director had a material interest in any 
significant contract, other than a service contract or contract for services, with the Company or any of its operating 
companies at any time during the year. 
 
Directors’ indemnity arrangements  

The Company had purchased and has maintained throughout the financial year and at the date of approval of this Annual 
Report and Accounts, Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance in respect of itself and its Directors whether in their capacity 
as Directors of the Company or associated companies. The Directors also have the benefit of indemnity provisions in the 
Company’s Articles of Association. These provisions are qualifying third party indemnity provisions as defined in section 
234 of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Results and dividends 

The consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 are as set out on pages 28-82. The Group’s 
profit after taxation for the year was $61.2 million (2017: loss after taxation of $72.3 million). 
 
The Company has declared no dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil). The Directors do not currently 
intend that the Company will pay a dividend in the foreseeable future. 
 
Future developments in the business of the Group 

Details of the likely future developments in the business of the Group are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 12 
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Use of financial instruments 
See note 20-21 for details of the group’s long term borrowings. 
 
Note 25 to the financial statements includes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its 
financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
Political donations 

During the year the Group made no political donations (2017: nil).  
  
Auditors 

Each person who is a Director at the date of approval of this Annual Report and Accounts confirms that as far as each 
Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware. In addition, each 
Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. This confirmation is given 
and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Post balance sheet events 

Particulars of important events affecting the Group since the end of the financial year are set out in note 34 to the accounts.  
 
Going concern 

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position, 
are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 12. The financial position of the Group, consisting of cash resources of 
$262.5 million, its cash flows and its liquidity position, is described in the financial statements on pages 28 to 82. In addition, 
Note 25 to the financial statements includes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its 
financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit 
risk and liquidity risk. 
 
In making their going concern assessment, the Directors have considered Group budgets and cash flow forecasts. As a result 
of this review, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in 
preparing the annual financial statements. 
By order of the Board 
 
 
 
 
Tony Rouse 
Director 
2 May 2019 
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in relation to the financial statements and Annual Report 
 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
United Kingdom law and regulations. Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements of the Group and 
the parent Company for each financial year. Under that law, the Directors are required to prepare financial statements under 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 
 
Under Company Law the Directors must not approve the Group and parent Company financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of the profit or loss of 
the Group and parent Company for that period. In preparing the financial statements the Directors are required to: 
 

• present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Group and Parent Company; 
• select suitable accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors and then apply them consistently; 
• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and 
understandable information; 
• make judgements that are reasonable; 
• provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 
is insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Group 
and Parent Company’s financial position and financial performance; and 
• state whether the Group and Parent Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements. 

 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and 
Parent Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and 
Parent Company’s and enable them to ensure that the Group and Parent Company financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group 
and Parent Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 
 
The Directors are also responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report, in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006 and applicable regulations,  
 

 
Tony Rouse 
Director 
2 May 2019 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SALAMANDER ENERGY PLC  

Opinion 

In our opinion: 

• Salamander Energy plc’s group financial statements and parent company financial statements (the “financial 
statements”) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 
December 2018 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended; 
 

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union;  

 
• the parent company financial statements been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 

European Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act; and  
 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

We have audited the financial statements of Salamander Energy plc (“Salamander”) which comprise: 

Group Parent company 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then 
ended  

 

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018 Balance sheet as at 31 December 2018 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended Statement of changes in equity for the year then 
ended 

Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended Statement of cash flows for the year then ended  

Related notes 1 to 34 to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies 

Related notes 1 to 12 to the financial statements 
including a summary of significant accounting 
policies 

 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and; as regards to the parent company 
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.  

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report below. We are independent of the group and parent company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report 
to you where: 
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• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 

• statements is not appropriate; or 

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 

significant doubt about the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis 

of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised 

for issue. 

 

Overview of our audit approach 

Key audit matters • Impairment of the tangible oil and gas assets, exploration and evaluation assets, and the equity 

accounted investment  

• Acquisition of assets from Santos Limited 

• Estimates of oil and gas reserves  

• Provision for decommissioning and restoration of oil and gas  

Audit scope • We performed an audit of the complete financial information of 7 components and audit 

procedures on specific balances for a further 10 components. 

• The components where we performed full or specific audit procedures accounted for 99% of 

earnings before interest, tax, amortisation (including impairment) and exploration costs 

(“EBITDAx”), 99% of Revenue and 99% of Total Assets. 

Materiality • Overall group materiality of $7.6 million which represents 3% of EBITDAx. 

 

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 
(whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the 
overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Risk Our response to the risk Key observations communicated 
to those charged with 
governance 

Impairment of the oil and 
gas (“O&G”) properties, 
exploration and evaluation 
("E&E") assets and 
investments accounted for 
using the equity method 
(“APICO”). 

For O&G properties:  

Oil and gas properties: $820m 
(2017: $582m)  

Refer to the Accounting 
policies (page 32); and Note 
13 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements (page 
63) 

Fluctuating prices, as well as 
other potential triggers such 
as changes in reserves, 
production profiles, drilling 
commitments and cost 
forecasts, could indicate 
heightened risk of impairment 
and give rise to impairment 

testing.  

This risk has remained 
consistent with the prior year.   

 

  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

For O&G properties:  

We inquired of both operational and finance 
personnel regarding the assets’ performance, 
specifically with regard to production and reserves 
data, and future plans to assess whether there were 
any indicators of impairment. We also read the most 
recent reserves reports and discussed them with the 
third party reservoir engineers. With regards to the 
Medco offer, we have considered this in respect of 
the net asset valuation when assessing whether 
indicators of impairment exist at year end.  

For assets where an impairment indicator was 
identified, we obtained the relevant models 
supporting the recoverable amounts for the asset 
from management and compared these to the 
carrying value of the asset as at the balance sheet 
date to identify if there were any impairments or 
reversals of impairments. We substantively tested the 
integrity of the models. 

In assessing the appropriateness of management’s 
assumptions and inputs included in the models we 
worked with our valuation specialists to assist us in 
performing industry benchmarking and analysis over 
oil and gas prices (short, medium and long-term), 
discount rates, foreign exchange rates and inflation 
rates. We stress tested the models by performing 
sensitivity analyses of the key assumptions.   

In respect of oil and gas reserve estimates including 
production profiles, we made inquiries directly of the 
third party reservoir engineers, around their scope of 
work performed and their independence from 
Salamander in order to assess both their competence 
and objectivity in respect of their reserves reporting. 

We performed audit procedures at full and specific 
scope components over this risk area in 2 locations, 
which covered 100% of the oil and gas properties. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For O&G properties:  

We reported to those charged with 
governance that:  

- there was appropriate evidence to 

support the price assumptions 

used by Salamander; 

- the impairment discount rate 

adopted by management was in 

the middle of an acceptable range 

and the inflation rate assumption 

was acceptable based on market 

data;  

- we did not identify any errors or 

factual differences between 

Salamander’s oil and gas reserves 

and resource estimates that would 

materially impact the financial 

statements.  

On the basis of our audit procedures, 
we confirmed that the oil and gas 
prices, discount rates, production 
volumes and the other assumptions 
used by management were within a 
reasonable range in light of the current 
market conditions.  

We communicated to those charged 
with governance that we considered 
the carrying values and disclosures in 
the financial statements to be 
appropriate based on the work we had 
performed. 
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Risk Our response to the risk Key observations communicated 
to those charged with 
governance 

 
 
 
For E&E assets:  

E&E assets: $54m (2017: 
$47m) 

Refer to the Accounting 
policies (page 31); and Note 
12 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements (page 
62) 

 

Given the sensitivity to 
commodity prices and the 
consequential impact on 
future exploration and capital 
expenditure plans, there is a 
significant risk that the 
carrying value of E&E assets 
may be impaired. In addition, 
Salamander’s right to explore 
in the specific areas either 
may have expired during the 
period or may expire in the 
near future, and without 
expectation of renewal. We 
have considered the strategic 
direction of Salamander as it 
moves away from being an 
exploration focused company 
to focusing on increasing 
cashflows through its 
production assets. In addition, 
the Medco potential 
acquisition was also taken into 
consideration.  

This risk has increased from 
the prior year due to the 
change in strategic direction. 

 

 

For APICO: 

Investment accounted for 
using the equity method $76m 
(2017: $76m)  

Refer to the Accounting 
policies (page 31); and Note 
29 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements (page 
78) 

 

 

 

For E&E assets:  

We verified that Salamander had the right to explore 
in the relevant exploration licence by obtaining 
supporting documentation such as licence 
agreements and correspondence with relevant 
government agencies. 

We confirmed that management had the intention to 
carry out exploration and evaluation activity in the 
relevant exploration area by performing procedures 
which included the review of budgeted expenditures 
and discussions with senior management in financial 
and operational roles and discussions with executive 
management. 

We considered whether Salamander will be able to 
finance planned future exploration and evaluation 
activity. 

We considered the commercial viability of the 
exploration block based on the results of exploration 
and evaluation activities carried out in the relevant 
licence area.  

We performed audit procedures at full and specific 
scope components over this risk area in 3 locations, 
which covered 90% of the balance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For APICO: 

We instructed PwC Bangkok to perform a full scope 
audit over the financial statements of APICO. We 
scoped out of our instructions the impairment 
procedures on the investment as this is performed by 
the primary team. 

During our site visits to Bangkok, we met with PwC 
and certain directors of APICO appointed by 
Salamander to inquire of the financial and non-
financial performance of the company to understand 
whether any impairment indicators exist in respect of 
assets held by APICO. 

 

 

For E&E assets:  

We reported to those charged with 
governance that:  

- E&E assets were assessed under 

the IFRS 6 criteria and we 

validated this by: 1. reviewing the 

right to tenure for the group; 2. the 

anticipated work programmes for 

2019 and beyond; 3. drilling 

results; 4. releases made by 

Salamander during the year; and 

5. budgets and commitments for 

2019 and beyond. 

 

- Discussions were held on the 

status of each E&E asset with 

senior management and the asset 

managers.  

 
On the basis of our audit procedures, 
we communicated that we agreed with 
management’s conclusions regarding 
the carrying values of the exploration 

and evaluation assets. 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

For APICO: 

We reported to the those charged with 
governance that:  

- the impairment discount rate 

adopted by management was in 

the lower end of an acceptable 

range and the inflation rate 

assumption was acceptable based 

on market data;  

- we confirmed to those charged 

with governance that we were 
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Risk Our response to the risk Key observations communicated 
to those charged with 
governance 

Lower than anticipated 
nominations reduced the 
production profile attributed to 
the Sinphuhorm asset and 
hence there is a risk of an 
impairment of the APICO 
investment.  

This risk has increased from 
prior year as a result of the 
lower nominations and 
reduction in reserves for the 
Sinphuhorm asset. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In assessing the carrying value of the equity-
accounted investment in APICO, we obtained the 
relevant model supporting the recoverable amount for 
the asset from management and compared these to 
the carrying value of the asset as of the balance 
sheet date to identify whether there were any 
impairments or reversals of impairments. We 
substantively tested the integrity of the models. 

In assessing the appropriateness of management’s 
assumptions and inputs included in the model we 
worked with our valuation specialists to assist us in 
performing industry benchmarking and analysis over 
oil and gas prices (short, medium and long-term), 
discount rates, foreign exchange rates and inflation 
rates. In respect of oil and gas reserve estimates 
including production profiles, we made inquiries 
directly to the third party reservoir engineers, around 
their scope of work performed and their 
independence from Salamander in order to assess 
both their competence and objectivity in respect of 
their reserves reporting. 

 

  

satisfied that the price 

assumptions applied in the model 

as a whole were reasonable and 

in line with the external ranges 

provided by our valuation 

specialists. 

 

- we did not identify any errors or 

factual differences between 

Salamander’s oil and gas reserves 

and resource estimates that would 

materially impact the financial 

statements.  

 
We communicated to those charged 
with governance that on the basis of 
our audit procedures, we agreed with 
management’s conclusions regarding 
the carrying value of the equity 
accounted investment.  

 

 

 

Acquisition of assets from 
Santos Limited 

Refer to the Accounting 
policies (page 31); and Note 
10 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements (page 
58) 

Salamander acquired a 
package of producing and 
exploration assets from 
Santos Limited on 6 
September 2018. There is a 
risk that the provisional 
valuation of the assets and 
liabilities acquired is 
calculated incorrectly leading 
to a material misstatement in 
the financial statements. The 
valuation is subjective and 
judgmental due to the 

In order to assess whether management’s 
methodology and calculation of the purchase price 
allocation (“PPA”) was within an acceptable range 
and in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 3: 
Business Combinations, we have performed the 
following procedures:  

− Inquiries of management outside of the finance 

function to corroborate the assumptions made by 

finance in the preparation of the PPA, oil and gas 

reserves, impairment tests and decommissioning 

estimates.  

− Read the purchase agreement to gain an 

understanding of the key terms and conditions 

and to confirm if the correct accounting treatment 

was applied. 

− Assessed the competence of both internal and 

external specialists. We also involved our internal 

We reported to those charged with 
governance that:   

- the significant fair value uplift arose 

on the producing assets acquired 

and the assumptions used by 

management fell within the 

acceptable range determined by our 

valuations specialists; 

 
- sensitivities were performed over 

the models and the models were 

integrity tested;  

- we did not identify any errors or 

factual differences between 

Salamander’s oil and gas reserves 

used in the models and resource 

estimates that would materially 

impact the financial statements; 
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Risk Our response to the risk Key observations communicated 
to those charged with 
governance 

complex estimations and 
inputs required, in particular 
around the valuation of the 
underlying assets and 
liabilities. 

tax experts to assess the recognition and 

valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

− Reviewed the appropriateness of the acquisition 

accounting applied, including the timing at which 

control was deemed to have passed. 

− Obtained management’s purchase price 

allocation schedules and supporting fair value 

models (where applicable, for example, for 

production and development assets). 

− In assessing the appropriateness of 

management’s assumptions and inputs included 

in the models we worked with our valuation 

specialists to assist us in performing industry 

benchmarking and analysis over oil and gas 

prices (short, medium and long-term), discount 

rates, foreign exchange rates and inflation rates 

including performing sensitivity analysis, in 

calculating the fair value of the acquired assets 

and liabilities. 

- Performed testing over journal entries associated 

with the recording of the purchase price allocation 

to ensure that the amounts recorded accurately 

reflected the outcome of management’s 

calculations. 

Assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures in 
the notes to the financial statements. 

- audit procedures were performed 

over the opening balances at the 

date of acquisition. 

We communicated to those charged 
with governance that, we considered 
the assumptions and inputs used by 
management in calculating the fair 
values of the assets and liabilities 
acquired as part the of the business 
combination, to be within an 
acceptable range. We also considered 
the relevant disclosures included in the 
consolidated financial statements for 
Salamander Energy plc, to be in 
accordance with the requirements of 

IFRS 3: Business Combinations.  

 

Estimate of oil and gas 
reserves  

The estimation of oil and gas 
reserves and resources is a 
significant area of judgment 
due to the technical 
uncertainty in assessing the 
quantities and complex 
contractual arrangements that 
dictate Salamander’s share of 
reserves and resources 
volumes. The estimates are 
based on internal or external 
specialists’ assessment of 
reserves in place, recovery 
factors and crude quality. 

The risk relates to significant 
in-year movements, or lack 
thereof, in the reserves and 
resources volumes that 
materially impact elements of 
the financial statements 
including depreciation and 
amortisation, impairment 

Our audit procedures have focused on 
management’s estimation process, including whether 
bias exists in the determination of reserves. 

We carried out procedures to walkthrough and 
understand Salamander’s internal process and key 
controls associated with the oil and gas reserves 
estimation process. We carried out identical 
procedures on each reserve report for all assets.  

We assessed the competence of both internal and 
external specialists and objectivity of external 
specialists. We discussed the reserves report directly 
with the external reservoir engineers and made 
enquiries with them to assess their competence and 
objectivity. 

We also read and analysed the report of the external 
specialists on their audit of the reserves for the 
tangible (oil and gas) assets in Thailand and 
Indonesia as at 31 December 2018 where we 
performed procedures to evaluate their objectivity 
and competency.  

We have checked the consistency of the application 
of estimated reserves across the significant areas of 
the audit such as impairment testing; depreciation 

We reported to those charged with 
governance that:   

- we assessed the ERCE engineers 
to be independent, competent and 
objective; 

- independent discussions with the 

ERCE engineers were performed 

to understand significant 

movements and assumption 

changes when determining the 

reserves for each asset;  

 

- we agreed the reserves reports 

through to the related underlying 

accounts and we found no 

material errors.  

 

Based on our procedures we consider 
that the reserves estimations are 
reasonable and are an appropriate 
basis for use in, amongst other 
calculations, impairment testing, 
calculating depreciation and 
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Risk Our response to the risk Key observations communicated 
to those charged with 
governance 

testing and decommissioning 

and restoration provisions. 

This risk has remained 
consistent with the prior year.   

 

 

 

and amortisation; decommissioning provisions and 
assessment of going concern. 

amortisation, determination of 
decommissioning and restoration 
provisions and assessment of going 
concern.   

 

Decommissioning and 
restoration provision  

Decommissioning and 
restoration provision: $130m 
(2017: $52m)  

Refer to the Accounting 
policies (page 31); and Note 
23 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements (page 
68) 

The decommissioning and 
restoration provision is 
inherently subjective given it is 
based on estimates of costs 
that will be settled at some 
point in the future 

Management’s estimate has 
been determined on the basis 
of both external factors 
(discount rates/inflation rates) 
and internal factors (future 
costs estimate).  

This risk has increased in 
current year as a result of the 
Santos acquisition which 
brought 3 new producing 
assets on to the balance 
sheet.  

  

We have performed audit procedures over this risk 
area in two locations that cover 100% of the 
decommissioning and restoration provision. 

We have tested the reasonableness of 
management’s discount rate used for the 
decommissioning and restoration provision based on 
market data.  

We evaluated the models prepared by management 
to determine the decommissioning cost estimate 
including testing the integrity of the model for 

mechanical and mathematical actuary. 

We compared actual spend in the year to the 
provision estimate.  

Where management utilised an internal or external 
specialist, such as their internal reserve engineers 
and ERCE, we assessed their objectivity and 

competency.  

We also obtained an understanding of, and tested the 
design and implementation of, key controls related to 
the process.  

We reported to those charged with 
governance that having considered the 
components that make up the 
decommissioning estimate in 
combination, we were satisfied the 
overall decommissioning provision is 
reasonable. We also reported that we 
ensured the assumptions applied 
between Santos and Salamander 
aligned, and the methodology applied 
in the calculation was harmonised.   

 

 

 

An overview of the scope of our audit  

Tailoring the scope 

Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality determine 
our audit scope for each entity within the Group.  Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We consider size, risk profile, the organisation of the group and effectiveness of 
group-wide controls, changes in the business environment and other factors such as recent Internal audit results 
when assessing the level of work to be performed at each entity. 
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In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements, and to ensure we had adequate 
quantitative coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements, of the 46 reporting components of the 
Group, we selected 17 components covering entities across London, Thailand and Indonesia, which represent the 
principal business units within the Group. 

Of the 17 components selected, we performed an audit of the complete financial information of 7 components (“full 
scope components”) which were selected based on their size or risk characteristics. For the remaining 10 
components (“specific scope components”), we performed audit procedures on specific accounts within that 
component that we considered had the potential for the greatest impact on the significant accounts in the financial 
statements either because of the size of these accounts or their risk profile.   

The reporting components where we performed audit procedures accounted for 99 % (2017: 100%) of the Group’s 
EBITDAx, 99% (2017: 100%) of the Group’s Revenue and 99% (2017: 99%) of the Group’s Total Assets. For the current 
year, the full scope components contributed 92% (2017: 102%) of the Group’s EBITDAx, 88% (2017: 98%) of the 
Group’s Revenue and 68% (2017: 85%) of the Group’s Total Assets. The specific scope component contributed 6% 
(2017: -2%) of the Group’s EBITDAx, 12% (2017: 2%) of the Group’s Revenue and 22% (2017: 14%) of the Group’s 
Total Assets.  The audit scope of these components may not have included testing of all significant accounts of the 
component but will have contributed to the coverage of significant tested for the Group.  

Of the remaining 29 components that together represent 1% of the Group’s EBITDAx , none are individually greater 
than 1% of the Group’s EBITDAx.  For these components, we performed other procedures, including analytical 
review, testing of consolidation journals and intercompany eliminations to respond to any potential risks of material 
misstatement of the Group financial statements. 

The charts below illustrate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our audit teams. 

                  

  

 

 

 

 

Changes from the prior year  
 

We have reassessed our scope and focused our procedures on areas that present a higher risk of material 
misstatement. Thus, we have altered our split of entities covered by full, specific scope and other procedures for 
2018. We believe that the 2018 audit scopes we set for each reporting unit when taken together, enable us to form 
an opinion on the group consolidated financial statements. 

  
Involvement with component teams  

In establishing our overall approach to the Group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be 
undertaken at each of the components by us, as the primary audit engagement team, or by component auditors 
from other EY global network firms operating under our instruction. Of the 7 full scope components, audit 
procedures were performed on 4 of these directly by the primary audit team. For the 10 specific scope components, 
where the work was performed by component auditors, we determined the appropriate level of involvement to 
enable us to determine that sufficient audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the Group as a 
whole. 
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The primary audit team continued to follow a programme of planned visits that has been designed to ensure that the 
Senior Statutory Auditor visits both Indonesia and Thailand during the current year’s audit cycle. During the current 
year’s audit cycle, two visits were undertaken by the primary audit team to the component teams in both locations. 
These visits involved meeting with local management (including heads of country and personnel outside of the 
finance function) and component teams for planning purposes which included obtaining an understanding of the 
businesses and their operations including current year performance to enable risk identification, discussions around 
audit timetables, and the scope for the audit. The primary team interacted regularly with the component teams 
where appropriate during various stages of the audit, reviewed key working papers and were responsible for the 
scope and direction of the audit process.  This, together with the additional procedures performed at Group level, 
gave us appropriate evidence for our opinion on the Group financial statements. 

Our application of materiality  

We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified 
misstatements on the audit and in forming our audit opinion.   

Materiality 
The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for determining 
the nature and extent of our audit procedures. 

We determined materiality for the Group to be $7.6 million (2017: $3 million), which is 3% (2017: 3%) of EBITDAx.  
We have used EBITDAx of the Group as the basis for our materiality calculation as we concluded that EBITDAx is the 
most closely monitored financial measure for the stakeholders of Salamander Energy plc, who use these accounts for 
the bank covenant calculations for the Bonds and the Reserve Based Lending facility.  

We determined materiality for the Parent Company to be $7.3 million (2017: $6 million), which is 1% (2017: 1%) of 
Total Assets.   

  

During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality and changed our final materiality to reflect the actual 
calculated EBITDAx of the Group in the year. 

 
 
 

Starting 
basis

• Operating profit  ($141.6m)

Adjustments

• Amortisation of Oil and Gas properties - ($100.7m)

• Exploration expenditure ($11.5m)

Materiality

• Totals $253.8m

• Materiality of $7.6m (3% of EBITDAx) 
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Performance materiality 
The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level.  It is set at an amount to reduce to an 
appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds 
materiality. 

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment, our 
judgement was that performance materiality was 50% (2017: 50%) of our planning materiality, namely $3.8m (2017: 
$2m).  We have set performance materiality at this level on the basis of a number of factors, including the results of 
our 2017 audit.  

Audit work at component locations for the purpose of obtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement 
accounts is undertaken based on a percentage of total performance materiality. The performance materiality set for 
each component is based on the relative scale and risk of the component to the Group as a whole and our 
assessment of the risk of misstatement at that component.  In the current year, the range of performance materiality 
allocated to components was $0.8m to $1.9m (2017: $0.5m to $2m). 

Reporting threshold 
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial. 

We agreed with those charged with governance that we would report to them all uncorrected audit differences in 
excess of $0.4m (2017: $0.2m), which is set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold 
that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds 

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above 
and in light of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion. 

Other information  

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 1 to 15, including 
the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report set out on pages 1 to 12 and 13 to 15, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to 
report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and  

• the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment obtained 
in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ 

report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires 
us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 

not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

• the parent company financial statements to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records and 

returns; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 15, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.   

 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part 
of our auditor’s report. 
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Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.   

 

 

 

 

 

Stephney Dallmann (Senior statutory auditor) 

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor 

London 

2 May 2019 
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 Notes 
2018 

$’000s 
 2017 

$’000s 

Continuing operations    

Revenue 3 298,246 188,527 

Cost of sales:    

 Operating costs  (72,764) (48,864) 

 Royalty payable  (19,308) (14,061) 

 Amortisation of oil and gas properties 13 (100,722) (71,772) 

 Movement in inventories of oil  (95) (7,122) 

Total cost of sales  (192,889) (141,819) 

Gross profit  105,357 46,708 

Exploration expenses:    

 Pre-licence and other exploration costs  (4,457) - 

 Exploration expenditure written off  12 (9,191) (47,884) 

 Exploration inventory written off  (2,321) (638) 

Total exploration expenses  (15,969) (48,552) 

Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method 29 4,858 4,181 

Impairment reversal of oil and gas properties 13 - 27,505 

Administration expenses  (255) (1,290) 

Gain on bargain purchase 10 57,542 - 

Other operating expenses 7 (9,923) (9,481) 

Operating profit  141,610                  19,071 

Interest income 8 1,461 124 

Finance costs 9 (30,059) (20,886) 

Other financial gains  160                     2,300 

Profit before tax  113,172 609 

Taxation:    

 Current tax 11 (69,108) (28,074) 

 Deferred tax 11 17,160 (44,854) 

Total taxation  (51,948) (72,928) 

Profit/(loss) after taxation  61,224 (72,319) 

Other comprehensive profit/(loss)    

Other comprehensive profit/(loss) to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:    

Cash flow hedges marked to market  5,584 (5,882) 

Cash flow hedges reclassified to the income statement  7,968 - 

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year  74,776 (78,201) 

The notes on pages 32 to 82 and pages 92 to 94 form part of these consolidated financial statements
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  Notes 
2018 

$’000s 
2017  

$’000s 

Assets    

Non-current assets   
 

Intangible exploration and evaluation assets 12 53,534 47,297 

Property, plant and equipment 13 820,496 583,301 

Other long term receivables  14 89,057 19,071 

Investments accounted for using the equity method 29 75,729 75,609 

Total non-current assets  1,038,816 725,278 

    

Current assets    

Inventories 17 28,904 22,812 

Derivative financial instruments 25 9,970 - 

Trade and other receivables 18 57,696 18,576 

Taxation receivable  9,124 9,120 

Cash and cash equivalents 19 262,535 87,963 

Total current assets  368,229 138,471 

Total assets  1,407,045 863,749 

     

Liabilities    

Non-current liabilities    

Other payables 24 14,739 15,279 

Bank borrowings 20 142,499 - 

Bonds payable 21 104,371 101,589 

Provisions 23 130,676 50,438 

Deferred tax liability 11 255,122 175,998 

Net defined benefit liability 33 14 - 

Total non-current liabilities  647,421 343,304 

    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 24 124,463 245,447 

Interest-bearing bank borrowings due within one year 20 103,200 - 

Derivative financial instruments 25 - 3,582 

Current tax liability  37,195 30,282 

Provisions 23 14,650 9,719 

Total current liabilities  279,508 289,030 

Total liabilities  926,929 632,334 

Net assets  480,116 231,415 

     

Equity    

Share capital 27 48,050 48,050 

Share premium  983,767 810,298 

Other reserves 31 292,041 275,734 

Retained loss  (843,742)  (902,667) 

Total equity, all attributable to owners of the Company   480,116              231,415 

The notes on pages 32 to 82 and pages 92 to 94 form part of these consolidated financial statements 

 
Approved by and authorised for issue, and signed on behalf of, the Board of Directors 

 

Tony Rouse 
Director, 2 May 2019 
Company Number 05934263  
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Share capital 

$’000s 

Share 
premium 

$’000s 

Other1 
reserves 

$’000s 
Retained loss 

$’000s 
Total 

$’000s 

At 1 January 2017                 48,050 810,298 280,937           (830,348) 308,937 

Share-based payments - - 679 - 679 

Comprehensive gain/(loss) for the year  - - (5,882) (72,319) (78,201) 

At 31 December 2017                 48,050 810,298 275,734  (902,667) 231,415 

Adjustment on adoption of IFRS 9 - - 2,300 (2,300) - 

Comprehensive income for the year - - 13,552 61,224 74,776 

Share-based payment - - 456 - 456 

Issue of shares - 173,469 - - 173,469 

At 31 December 2018 48,050 983,767 292,042 (843,743) 480,116 

1 Refer to note 31 of these consolidated financial statements 

The notes on pages 32 to 82 and pages 92 to 94 form part of these consolidated financial statements 
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2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Cash flow from operating activities   

Profit before tax 113,172 609 

Adjustments for:   

Amortisation and depreciation of property plant and equipment 100,803 71,996 

Exploration expenditure written off and loss on exploration inventory 11,512 47,884 

Gain on bargain purchase (57,542) - 

Impairment reversal - (27,685) 

Interest income (1,461) (124) 

Finance costs 30,059 20,886 

Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method (4,858) (4,181) 

Share based payment expense 455 679 

Movement in other provisions 5,750 2,506 

Other non cash losses 1,014 - 

Operating cash flow prior to movement in working capital 198,904 112,570 

Decrease in inventories 6,918 6,029 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (16,150) 10,309 

Increase in trade and other payables  2,346 10,644 

Cash generated from operations 192,018 139,552 

Payment of tax (70,497) (9,832) 

Net cash from operating activities 121,521 129,720 

Investing activities   

Expenditure on intangible assets (15,768) (21,804) 

Expenditure on property, plant and equipment (48,843) (43,938) 

Dividend received from investments 6,562 6,523 

Increase in investments (1,824) (370) 

Interest received 1,461 124 

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (137,847) - 

Proceeds from disposals of business - 428 

Net cash used in investing activities (196,259) (59,037) 

Financing activities   

Interest paid (14,591) (16,861) 

Proceeds/repayment of debt 253,200 (93,656) 

Investment/loans from parent company 10,286 38,680 

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities 248,895 (71,837) 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 174,157 (1,154) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 87,963 88,439 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 415 678 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 262,535 87,963 

The notes on pages 32 to 82 and pages 92 to 94 form part of these consolidated financial statements 
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1. Significant accounting policies and general information 

General Information on the Company and the Group 

Salamander Energy plc (the “Company”) is a privately held subsidiary of Ophir Energy Plc, registered in England and Wales 
on 13 September 2006 under the Companies Act, which serves as a holding company for the Group. The address of the 
registered office is 4th Floor, 123 Victoria Street, London SW1E 6DE. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal 
activities are as an oil and gas exploration, development and production company focused on building a portfolio of assets 
in Southeast Asia and more recently Cote d’Ivoire. 

Financial Information 

The financial information is presented in US Dollars because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the group operates. Foreign operations are included in accordance with policies set out later in this section. 

Accounting Policies and Presentation of Financial Information 

Basis of Preparation 
The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board and adopted by the European Union, IFRIC Interpretations and Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies 
reporting under IFRS.  

The Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as set out in the Directors’ Report. 

The separate Financial Statements of the Parent Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 (the 
“Act”). As permitted by the Act, the separate Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted 
by the European Union. The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting 
policies are the same as those set out in the Statement of Accounting Policies and General Information in this section. As 
a Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income is included, a separate Statement of Comprehensive Income for the 
Parent Company has not been included in accordance with section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The loss for the year 
for the Parent Company is disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Equity to the Company Financial Statements. 

New and amended accounting standards and interpretations 

The Group has adopted the following relevant new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations as of 1 January 

2018: 

• IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ 

• IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ 

There are no other new or amended standards or interpretations adopted during the year that have a significant 

impact on the financial statements. 

 

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’  

IFRS 9 provides a single classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects the business 
model in which they are managed and their cash flow characteristics. Under the new standard the Group’s financial 
assets are classified as measured at amortised cost, fair value through profit or loss, or fair value through other 
comprehensive income. For financial liabilities the existing classification and measurement requirements of IAS 39 
are largely retained. Whilst financial assets have been reclassified into the categories required by IFRS 9, the Group 
has not identified any impacts on the measurement of its financial assets and financial liabilities as a result of the 
classification and measurement requirements of the new standard. Trade receivables are held to collect contractual 
cash flows and are expected to give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. Thus, 
the Group has continued to measure these at amortised cost under IFRS 9. 
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 Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 

Under IFRS 9, impairments of financial assets classified as measured at amortised cost are recognised on an expected 
credit loss (ECL) basis which incorporates forward-looking information when assessing credit risk. Movements in the 
expected loss reserve are recognised in profit or loss. Due to the short-term nature and high quality of the financial 
assets, the Group has not recognised any impacts on the adoption of IFRS 9.  

The hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 have been simplified and are more closely aligned to an entity’s risk 
management strategy. Under IFRS 9 all existing hedging relationships will qualify as continuing hedging 
relationships. IFRS 9 also introduces a new way of treating fair value movements on the time value of certain 
hedging instruments. Whereas under IAS 39 these movements were recognised in profit or loss, under IFRS 9 they 
are initially recognised in equity to the extent that they relate to the hedged item. An adjustment to the 2018 
opening balance sheet has been made to transfer $2.3 million of gains from retained earnings to the hedging 
reserve for relevant hedging instruments existing on transition. As permitted by IFRS 9, comparatives were not 
restated.  

 

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’  

Under IFRS 15, revenue from contracts with customers is recognised as or when the Group satisfies a performance 
obligation by transferring a promised good or service to a customer. A good or service is transferred when the 
customer obtains control of that good or service. The transfer of control of oil and gas sold by the group coincides 
with title passing to the customer and the customer taking physical possession. The Group have applied the 
modified retrospective approach and there is no transition impact. The Group satisfies its performance obligations 
at a point in time. The accounting for revenue under IFRS 15 does not, therefore, represent a change from the 
Group’s previous practice for recognising revenue from sales to customers. An analysis of revenue from contracts 
with customers by product is presented in Note 3 and by product and segment in Note 2. 

 
Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 

The following standards and interpretations, relevant to the Group, have been issued by the IASB, but are 
not effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2018 and have not been early adopted by the 
Group: 

Effective date for periods beginning on or after 

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’  1 January 2019 

IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over income tax treatments’ 1 January 2019 
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture 1 January 2019 

Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 1 January 2019 

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement1 1 January 2019 

Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures 1 January 2019 

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle1 1 January 2019 
Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations1  
 1 January 2020 
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of material1  
 1 January 2020 
Amendment to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards1  
 1 January 2020 

 

 

1 These standards, amendments and improvements have not yet been endorsed by the European Union. 
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Significant  accounting policies and general information (continued) 

The directors anticipate the following standard will have a material impact for future financial reporting 
periods. 

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ 

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ provides a new model for lessee accounting in which all leases, other than short-term leases and 
leases of low value , will be accounted for by the recognition on the balance sheet of a right-to-use asset and a lease 
liability. The subsequent amortisation of the right-to-use asset and the interest expense related to the lease liability 
will be recognised in profit or loss over the lease term. IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 ‘Leases’ and IFRIC 4 ‘Determining 
whether an arrangement contains a lease’. 

The Company will adopt IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019. An implementation project was initiated in 2018 to cover 
accounting policy development and the impacts on covenants and other financial metrics. 

On transition, the company will use the modified retrospective approach permitted by the standard in which the 
lease asset is measured based on the lease liability with no adjustment to opening retained earnings and no 
restatement of comparative periods’ financial information. 

IFRS 16 introduces a revised definition of a lease. The Company has reassessed the existing population of leases 
under the new definition and has applied the new definition for the assessment of all material contracts in existence 
as at 1 January 2019. 

An adjustment to the 2019 opening statement of financial position is expected to be made to recognise a right of 
use asset of $94.1 million and a lease liability of $94.1 million. The discount rates used on transition are incremental 
borrowing rates with a range of such incremental borrowing rates applicable for the majority of leases for the Group 
of 3% to 6%, with the rate primarily determined by the country of operation. It is expected that the presentation 
and timing of recognition of charges in the income statement will also change as the operating lease expense 
currently reported under IAS 17, typically on a straight-line basis, will be replaced by depreciation of the right-to-
use asset and interest on the lease liability. In the cash flow statement operating lease payments are currently 
presented within cash flows from operating activities but under IFRS 16 payments will be presented as financing 
cash flows, representing repayments of debt, and as operating cash flows, representing payments of interest. 
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
Basis of Consolidation 

These financial statements comprise a consolidation of the accounts of the Company and its subsidiary 
undertakings and incorporates the results of its joint ventures and associates using the equity method of 
accounting, drawn up to 31 December each year. 

Subsidiaries 

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an 
investee if, and only if, the Group has all of the following: 

• power over the investee (i.e. existing voting rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of   
         the investee); 

• exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

• the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, being 
the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising 
therefrom, are eliminated. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the 
Group loses control over a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; (ii) 
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest; (iii) derecognises the cumulative translation differences, 
recorded in equity; (iv) recognises the fair value of the consideration received; (v) recognises the fair value of any 
investment retained; (vi) recognises any surplus or deficit in profit and loss; and (vii) reclassifies the parent’s share of 
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit and loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 
 
Commercial Reserves 

Commercial reserves are proved and probable oil and gas reserves, which are defined as the estimated quantities of 
crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological, geophysical and engineering data demonstrate with a 
specified degree of certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs and which are considered 
commercially viable. Proved and probable reserve estimates are based on a number of underlying assumptions 
including oil and gas prices, future costs, oil and gas in place and reservoir performance, which are inherently uncertain. 
The amount of reserves that will be ultimately recovered from any field cannot be known with certainty until the end 
of the field’s life. 

Intangible exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation (E&E) expenditure relates to costs incurred on the exploration for and evaluation of 
potential mineral reserves and resources. The Group applies the successful efforts method of accounting for E&E costs 
as permitted by IFRS 6 ‘Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources’. 

Under the successful efforts method of accounting, all licence acquisition, exploration and appraisal costs (such as 
geological, geochemical and geophysical costs, exploratory drilling and other direct costs associated with finding 
mineral resources) are initially capitalised in well, field or specific exploration cost centres as appropriate, pending 
determination. Costs (other than payments for the acquisition of rights to explore) incurred prior to acquiring legal 
rights to explore an area and general exploration costs not specific to any particular licence or prospect are charged 
directly to the consolidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive income. 

E&E assets are not amortised prior to the determination of the results of exploration activity. 
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 

Treatment of E&E assets at conclusion of appraisal activities 

Intangible E&E assets related to each exploration licence/block are carried forward, until the existence (or otherwise) 
of commercial reserves has been determined, subject to certain limitations including review for indicators of 
impairment. If, at completion of evaluation activities, technical and commercial feasibility is demonstrated, then, 
following recognition of commercial reserves, the carrying value of the relevant E&E asset is then reclassified as a 
development and production asset (subject to an impairment assessment before reclassification). 

If, on completion of evaluation activities, it is not possible to determine technical feasibility and commercial viability or if 
the legal right to explore expires or if the Group decides not to continue E&E activity, then the costs of such unsuccessful 
E&E are written off to the consolidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive income in the period of 
that determination. 

Impairment 

E&E assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an E&E asset 
may exceed its recoverable amount. The cash generating unit (CGU) applied for impairment test purposes is generally the 
block, except that a number of block interests may be grouped as a single cash generating unit where the cash flows of 
each block are interdependent. 

Where an indicator of impairment exists, management will assess the recoverability of the carrying value of the asset or 
CGU. This review includes a status report confirming that E&E drilling is still under way or firmly planned, or that it has 
been determined, or work is under way to determine that the discovery is economically viable. This assessment is based 
on a range of technical and commercial considerations and confirming that sufficient progress is being made to establish 
development plans and timing. If no future activity is planned, or the value of the asset cannot be recovered via successful 
development or sale, the balance of the E&E costs are written off in the consolidated income statement and statement of 
other comprehensive income. 

Farm-in/farm-out arrangements 

The Group may enter into farm-in or farm-out arrangements, where it may introduce partners to share in the 
development of an asset. For transactions involving assets at the exploration and evaluation phase, the Group adopts 
an accounting policy as permitted by IFRS 6 such that the Group does not record any expenditure made on its behalf 
under a ‘carried interest’ by a farm-in partner (the ‘farmee’). 

Where applicable past costs are reimbursed and any cash consideration received directly from the farmee is credited 
against costs previously capitalised in relation to the whole interest with any excess accounted for by the farmor as a 
gain on disposal. Farmed-out oil and gas properties are accounted for in accordance with IAS 16 ‘Property, Plant and 
Equipment’. 

Business combinations 

On an acquisition that qualifies as a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3 – ‘Business Combinations’, the 
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Determining these 
values (the “purchase price allocation”) is a significant exercise and under IFRS there is a period of 12 months for them 
to be finalised. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recognised as goodwill which is treated as an intangible asset. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair 
values of the identifiable net assets acquired is credited to the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income 
as a gain on bargain purchase in the period of acquisition.  
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
A business combination is a transaction in which an acquirer obtains control of a business. A business is defined as an 
integrated set of activities and assets that is capable of being conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a 
return in the form of dividends or lower costs or other economic benefits directly to investors or other owners or 
participants. A business consists of inputs and processes applied to those inputs that have the ability to create outputs. 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interest (NCI) in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure NCI in 
the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related 
costs are expensed as incurred and included in general and administration expenses. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. Those oil and 
gas reserves that are able to be reliably measured are recognised in the assessment of fair values on acquisition. Other 
potential reserves, resources and rights, for which fair values cannot be reliably measured, are not recognised 
separately, but instead are subsumed in goodwill. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date (being the date the acquirer gains control) 
in profit or loss. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will 
be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the 
contingent consideration is not within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS. If 
the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for 
within equity. 

IFRS 3 requires a liability to be recognised at its fair value if there is a present obligation arising from a past event that 
can be reliably measured, even if it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. 
If a contingent liability only represents a possible obligation arising from a past event, whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the group, no liability is recognised at acquisition. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Oil and gas properties and other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Oil and gas properties – cost 

Development and production assets are generally accumulated on a block-by-block basis and represent the cost of 
developing the commercial reserves discovered and bringing them into production. The initial cost of a development 
and production asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly attributable to bringing the 
asset into operation, the initial estimate of the decommissioning obligation and, for qualifying assets (where relevant), 
borrowing costs. When a development project moves into the production stage, the capitalisation of certain 
construction/development costs ceases, and costs are either regarded as part of the cost of inventory or  
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
expensed, except for costs which qualify for capitalisation relating to oil and gas property asset additions, 
improvements or new developments. The purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the 
fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset. The capitalised value of a finance lease is also included 
within property, plant and equipment. 

Oil and gas properties – depreciation 

Oil and gas properties are depreciated/amortised from the commencement of production, on a unit-of-production 
basis, which is the ratio of oil and gas production in the period to the estimated quantities of commercial reserves at 
the end of the period plus the production in the period, on a field-by-field basis. Costs used in the unit of production 
calculation comprise the net carrying amount of capitalised costs plus the estimated future field development costs. 
The production and reserve estimates used in the calculation are on an entitlements basis. Changes in the estimates 
of commercial reserves or future field development costs are dealt with prospectively. 

Producing assets are generally grouped with other assets that are dedicated to serving the same reserves for 
depreciation purposes, but are depreciated separately from producing assets that serve other reserves. 

Other fixed assets 

Property, plant and equipment other than oil and gas properties is depreciated at rates calculated to write off the cost 
less estimated residual value of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful economic life of between 
three and ten years. 

Impairment 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset (or CGU) may be impaired. 
Management has assessed its CGUs as being an individual block, which is the lowest level for which cash flows are 
largely independent of those of other assets. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset 
is required, the Group estimates the asset’s (or CGU’s) recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s (or CGU’s) fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCD) and value in use (VIU). The recoverable amount is then 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the asset is tested as part of a larger CGU to which it belongs. 
Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or CGU) is considered 
impaired and written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in 
the consolidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive income. 

Where conditions giving rise to an impairment subsequently reverse, the effect of the impairment charge is also 
reversed as a credit to the consolidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive income, net of any 
depreciation that would have been charged since the impairment. 

Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. 

i. Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through 
OCI, or fair value through profit or loss.  
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition that are debt instruments depends on the financial asset’s 
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade 
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical 
expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component 
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient for contracts that have a maturity of one year or less, are 
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15. Refer to the revenue recognition accounting policy on 
page 46 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give 
rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This 
assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.  

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to 
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash 
flows, selling the financial assets, or both.  

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:  

• Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)  
• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)  
• Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 
Derecognition (equity instruments)  
• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)  

This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the 
following conditions are met:  

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; And  

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and are 
subject to impairment. Interest received is recognised as part of finance income in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 
modified or impaired. 
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade receivables, other receivables and receivables from joint 
arrangements. Refer below to ‘Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ for a discussion of derivatives. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, e.g. derivative instruments, 
financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, e.g. debt or equity instruments, 
or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value, i.e. where they fail the SPPI test. Financial assets 
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. 
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that do not pass the SPPI test are required 
to be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding 
the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, 
debt instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or 
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with 
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.  

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract with a financial liability or non-financial host is separated from the host 
and accounted for as a separate derivative if: the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; 
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and 
the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair 
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the 
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification 
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.  

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The 
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset 
at fair value through profit or loss. 

Derecognition  

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily 
derecognised (i.e. removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:  

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or;  

• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) 
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset  

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the 
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group 
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that 
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.  
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to 
repay. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs 
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash 
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original EIR. The expected cash flows 
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual 
terms. 

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within 
the next 12 months (a 12 month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the 
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 

For trade receivables and other receivables due in less than 12 months, the Group applies the simplified approach in 
calculating ECLs, as permitted by IFRS 9. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead, 
recognises a loss allowance based on the financial asset’s lifetime ECL at each reporting date. For any other financial 
assets carried at amortised cost (which are due in more than 12 months), the ECL is based on the 12-month ECL. The 
12-month ECL is the proportion of lifetime ECLs that results from default events on a financial instrument that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. When determining whether the credit risk of a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers 
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit 
assessment including forward-looking information. 

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain 
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates 
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit 
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering 
the contractual cash flows and usually occurs when past due for more than one year and not subject to enforcement 
activity. 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit impaired. A 
financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

ii. Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.  
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and loans and 
borrowings. 

Subsequent measurement  

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.  

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near 
term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as 
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified 
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.  

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. 

Loans and borrowings and trade and other payables  

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings and trade and other payables are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the EIR amortisation 
process.  

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings and trade and other 
payables.  

For more information, refer to Note 20, 21 and 24 

Derecognition  

A financial liability is derecognised when the associated obligation is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of 
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised 
in profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

iii. Cash and short-term deposits 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and in hand, short-term 
deposits and restricted cash.  

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash 
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

iv. Derivative financial instruments 
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to movements in oil and gas prices, interest 
rates and foreign exchange. The Group does not use derivatives for speculative purposes. 

Fair value hedges 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated income 
statement, except for the effective proportion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income 
and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit or loss. The fair values of derivative 
instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, a discounted cash flow analysis is 
performed using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option 
pricing models for optional derivatives. Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward 
exchange rates and yield curves derived from quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contracts. Interest rate 
swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield 
curves derived from quoted interest rates. 

The estimated fair value of these derivatives is disclosed in derivative financial instruments in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and the related changes in the fair value are included in other financial gains unless 
designated as effective hedging instruments. 

Cash flow hedges 

The effective portion of the gain or loss on a cash flow hedging instrument is reported in other comprehensive income, 
while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts reported in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to the income statement when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss.  

The Group uses derivative commodity contracts to hedge its exposure to volatility in the commodity prices. The 
ineffective portion relating to commodity contracts is recognised in other operating income or expenses. Refer to Note 
25 for more details.  

Amounts recognised as OCI are transferred to profit or loss when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as 
when a forecast sale occurs. When the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the 
amounts recognised as OCI are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.  

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover (as part of the 
hedging strategy), or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, or when the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI remains separately in equity until the forecast 
transaction occurs. 

Inventories 

Inventories of oil and gas, materials and drilling consumables are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Cost is determined by using the weighted average cost method and comprises direct purchase costs, cost of 
transportation and other related expenses.  

Provisions 

General 

A provision is recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, expected future cash flows are discounted 
using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to unwinding the discount is recognised as a finance cost. 
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
Decommissioning liability 

The obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the field location. 
When the liability is initially recognised, the present value of the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing the carrying 
amount of the related oil and gas assets to the extent that it was incurred by the development/construction of the 
field. 

Changes in the estimated timing or cost of decommissioning are dealt with prospectively by recording an adjustment 
to the provision and a corresponding adjustment to oil and gas assets. Any reduction in the decommissioning liability 
and, therefore, any deduction from the asset to which it relates, may not exceed the carrying amount of that asset. If 
it does, any excess over the carrying value is taken immediately to the consolidated income statement and statement 
of other comprehensive income. 

If the change in estimate results in an increase in the decommissioning liability and, therefore, an addition to the 
carrying value of the asset, the Group considers whether this is an indication of impairment of the asset as a whole, 
and if so, tests for impairment. If, for mature fields, the estimate for the revised value of oil and gas assets net of 
decommissioning provisions exceeds the recoverable value, that portion of the increase is charged directly to expense. 
Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments and risks specific to the liability. The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in 
the consolidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive income as a finance cost. The Group 
recognises neither the deferred tax asset in respect of the temporary difference on the decommissioning liability nor 
the corresponding deferred tax liability in respect of the temporary difference on a decommissioning asset. 

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits 

For defined benefit schemes the amounts charged to operating profit are the costs arising from employee services 
rendered during the period and the cost of plan introductions, benefit changes, settlements and curtailments. The net 
interest cost on the net defined benefit liability is charged to profit or loss and included within finance costs. 
Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains and losses and the return on scheme assets (excluding amounts included 
in net interest on the net defined benefit liability) are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. Pension 
scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit 
credit method. The actuarial valuations are obtained annually.  

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they 
become payable. 

Employee benefits 

Salaries, wages, annual leave and sick leave 

Liabilities for salaries and wages, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected 
to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the 
reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for 
non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable. 
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
Equity instruments 

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 
and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset 
or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an 
arrangement. 

The Group has leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset. Such 
leases are classified as operating leases and rentals payable are charged to the consolidated income statement and 
statement of other comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

Interests in joint arrangements 

A joint arrangement is an arrangement over which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant 
activities (being those that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement) require unanimous consent of the 
parties sharing control. 

i. Joint operations 

A joint operation is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. In relation to its interests in joint 
operations, the Group recognises its: 

• assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 

• liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 

• revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; 

• share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and 

• expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly 
ii. Joint ventures 

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. The Group’s investment in its joint venture is accounted for using the 
equity method. 

Under the equity method, the investment in the joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the 
investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture since the acquisition 
date. Goodwill relating to the joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not individually 
tested for impairment. 

The consolidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive income reflects the Group’s share of the 
results of operations of the joint venture. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group 
and the joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the joint venture. 

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of the joint venture is shown on the face of the consolidated income 
statement and statement of other comprehensive income as part of operating profit and represents profit or loss after 
tax and NCI in the subsidiaries of joint venture. The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared  
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies 
in line with those of the Group. 

At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the joint 
venture is impaired. 

If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable 
amount of the joint venture and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss as ‘share of profit of investments 
accounted for using the equity method’ in the consolidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive 
income. 

On loss of joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair 
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint control and the fair value of 
the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the consolidated income statement and 
statement of other comprehensive income. 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Group generates revenue through the sale of oil and petroleum products. The sale of oil and petroleum products 
is the only performance obligation. Revenue recognition occurs at a point in time when control of the asset is 
transferred to the customer on delivery of the products, at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those products. The normal credit term is 30 days. The transfer of control 
of oil and gas sold by the group coincides with title passing to the customer and the customer taking physical 
possession. The Group has concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements, because it typically controls 
the products before transferring them to the customer. 

The transaction price for oil sales is fixed for all contracts based on a price derived from a quoted exchange. For gas 
sales, prices are based on sales agreements which set out the terms of the sale and the applicable price. There are no 
significant financing components. 

Cost of sales 

Joint operations 

The Group recognises revenue when sales are made to customers and production costs are accrued or deferred to 
reflect differences between volumes taken and sold to customers and the Group's ownership interest in total 
production volumes. 

Interest income 

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate method, that is, the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset. Interest income is included in net finance expense in the consolidated income statement 
and statement of other comprehensive income. 

Finance costs and borrowings 

Finance costs of borrowings are allocated to periods over the term of the related debt at a constant rate on the carrying 
amount. Debt is shown on the consolidated statement of financial position net of arrangement fees and issue costs, 
and amortised through to the consolidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive income as 
finance costs over the term of the debt. 
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost 
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

Share-based payments 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which 
they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is determined with reference to the market value of the 
underlying shares using a pricing model appropriate to the circumstances which requires judgements as to the 
selection of both the valuation model and inputs. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any 
vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company (market conditions). 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon 
a market condition or a non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market 
condition or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other vesting conditions are satisfied. 

At each consolidated statement of financial position date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated on the 
basis of the extent to which the vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous consolidated statement 
of financial position date is recognised in the consolidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive 
income, with a corresponding entry in equity. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified or a new award is designated as replacing a cancelled or 
settled award, the cost based on the original award terms continues to be recognised over the original vesting period. 
In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new vesting period for the incremental fair value of 
any modification, based on the difference between the fair value of the original award and the fair value of the 
modified award, both as measured on the date of the modification. No reduction is recognised if this difference is 
negative. 

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any cost not 
yet recognised in the income statement for the award is expensed immediately. Any compensation paid up to the fair 
value of the award at the cancellation or settlement date is deducted from equity, with any excess over fair value being 
treated as an expense in the consolidated income statement. 

For equity-settled share-based payment transactions with third parties, the goods or services received are measured 
at the date of receipt by reference to their fair value with a corresponding entry in equity. If the Group cannot reliably 
estimate the fair value of the goods or services received, their value is measured by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments granted. 

Foreign currency translation 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in US Dollars, which is also the parent Company’s 
functional currency. The functional currency for each entity in the Group is determined on an individual basis according 
to the primary economic environment in which it operates. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the spot exchange rate 
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated  
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date. All exchange differences are taken to the 
consolidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are 
measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the spot exchange rate ruling as at the date of 
the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at a revalued amount in a foreign currency are translated using 
the spot exchange rate ruling at the date when the fair value was determined. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations whose functional currency is other than that of the presentation 
currency of the Group are translated into the presentation currency, at the rate of exchange ruling at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date. Income and expenses are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for 
the period. The resulting exchange differences are taken directly to a separate component of equity. On disposal of a 
foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income. 

Income taxes 

Current tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated statement of 
financial position date. 

Current income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates to items that are credited or charged to equity. 
Otherwise income tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, with the following exceptions: 

• where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss; 

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

• deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised. 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on acquisitions that are categorised as business 
combinations. Deferred tax is recognised at acquisition as part of the assessment of the fair value of assets and 
liabilities acquired. Any deferred tax is charged and credited in the consolidated income statement and statement of 
other comprehensive income as the underlying temporary difference is reversed. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the  
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting 
period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will be available to allow 
the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply when the related asset is realised or liability is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the consolidated statement of financial position date. 

Deferred income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates to items that are credited or charged to equity. 
Otherwise deferred income tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement and statement of other 
comprehensive income. 

In order to account for uncertain tax positions, management has formed an accounting policy, in accordance with IAS 
8, whereby the ultimate outcome of legal proceedings is viewed as a single unit of account. The results of separate 
hearings in relation to the same matter, such as local tribunals and international arbitration, are not viewed separately 
and only the final outcome is assessed by management to determine the best estimate of any potential outcome. If 
management viewed the results of individual hearings separately, an income statement charge could arise due to the 
differing recognition criteria of assets and liabilities. 

Royalties, resource rent tax and revenue-based taxes 

In addition to corporate taxes, the Group’s consolidated financial statements also include and recognise as taxes on 
income, other types of taxes on net income such as certain royalties, resource rent taxes and revenue-based taxes. 

Royalties, resource rent taxes and revenue-based taxes are accounted for under IAS 12 when they have the 
characteristics of an income tax. This is considered to be the case when they are imposed under government tax 
authority and the amount payable is based on taxable income rather than physical quantities produced or as a 
percentage of revenue after adjustment for temporary differences. For such arrangements, current and deferred tax 
is provided on the same basis as described above for other forms of taxation. Obligations arising from royalty 
arrangements and other types of taxes that do not satisfy these criteria are accrued and included in cost of sales. 

Impairment 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an intangible asset or item of property, 
plant and equipment may be impaired. If any indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The 
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In 
determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such 
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or 
other available fair value indicators. 

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared 
separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast 
calculations generally cover a period of five years. 

Impairment losses of continuing operations (including impairment on inventories) are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement and statement of other comprehensive income in expense categories consistent with the function 
of the impaired asset. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount 
of any previous revaluation. Where conditions giving rise to the impairment subsequently reverse, the effect of the 
impairment charge is also reversed, net of any depreciation that would have been charged since the impairment. 

Critical Judgements and Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements. Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to 
the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 

The Group has identified the following areas where significant judgements, estimates and assumptions are required. 
Further information on each of these areas and how they impact the various accounting policies are described below 
and also in the relevant notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Judgements 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure - accounting judgements 

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgement to 
determine whether future economic benefits are likely, from either future exploration, development or asset sale, or 
whether activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. 

Management is also required to assess impairment in respect of exploration and evaluation assets. Note 12 discloses 
the carrying value of such assets. All such carried costs are subject to regular technical, commercial and management 
review on at least an annual basis to confirm the continued intent to develop, or otherwise extract value from, the 
asset. Where this is no longer the case, the costs are immediately expensed. The triggering events for impairment are 
defined in IFRS 6. In making the assessment, management is required to make judgements on the status of each project 
and assumptions about future events and circumstances, in particular, whether an economically viable extraction 
operation can be established.  

Income taxes – judgement of income taxes 

The computation of the Group’s income tax expense and liability involves the interpretation of applicable tax laws and 
regulations in many jurisdictions throughout the world. The resolution of tax positions taken by the Group, through 
negotiations with relevant tax authorities or through litigation, can take several years to complete and in some cases 
it is difficult to predict the ultimate outcome. Therefore, judgement is required to determine provisions for income 
taxes. In addition, the Group has carry forward tax losses and tax credits in certain taxing jurisdictions that are available 
to offset against future taxable profit. However, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses or tax credits can be utilised. Management  
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 

judgement is exercised in assessing whether this is the case. To the extent that actual outcomes differ from 
management’s estimates, income tax charges or credits, and changes in current and deferred tax assets or liabilities, 
may arise in future periods. For more information see Note 11. Judgement is also required when determining whether 
a particular tax is an income tax or another type of tax (for example a production tax). 

Estimates 

Oil and gas properties – estimation of oil and gas reserves 

The determination of the Group’s estimated oil and natural gas reserves requires significant judgements and estimates 
to be applied and these are regularly reviewed and updated. Factors such as the availability of geological and 
engineering data, reservoir performance data, acquisition and divestment activity, drilling of new wells, and 
commodity prices all impact on the determination of the Group’s estimates of its oil and natural gas reserves. The 
Group employs independent reserves specialists who periodically report on the Group’s level of commercial reserves 
by evaluating the estimates of the Group’s in-house reserves specialists and where necessary referencing geological, 
geophysical and engineering data together with reports, presentation and financial information pertaining to the 
contractual and fiscal terms applicable to the Group’s assets. In addition, the Group undertakes its own assessment of 
commercial reserves, using standard evaluation techniques and related future capital expenditure by reference to the 
same datasets using its own internal expertise. The estimates adopted by the Group may differ from the independent 
reserves specialists’ estimates where management considers that adjustments are appropriate in the circumstances. 
The last assessment by its independent reserves specialist was as at 31 December 2018. 

Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are used to calculate depreciation, depletion and amortisation charges for 
the Group’s oil and gas properties. The impact of changes in reserves is dealt with prospectively by amortising the 
remaining carrying value of the asset over the expected future production. Oil and natural gas reserves also have a 
direct impact on the assessment of the recoverability of asset carrying values reported in the financial statements. If 
reserves estimates are revised downwards, earnings could be affected by changes in depreciation expense or an 
immediate write-down of the property’s carrying value. Information on the carrying amounts of the group’s oil and 
natural gas properties, together with the amounts recognised in the income statement as depreciation, depletion and 
amortisation is contained in Note 13 and Note 6 respectively. 

Impairment of oil and gas properties – estimation on the recoverability of asset carrying values 

Determination as to whether, and by how much, an asset is impaired involves management estimates on highly 
uncertain matters such as future commodity prices, the effects of inflation on operating expenses, discount rates, 
production profiles and the outlook for regional market supply-and-demand conditions for crude oil and natural gas. 
For oil and natural gas properties, the expected future cash flows are estimated using management’s best estimate of 
future oil and natural gas prices and production and reserves volumes. The estimated future level of production in all 
impairment tests is based on assumptions about future commodity prices, production and development costs, field 
decline rates, current fiscal regimes and other factors. 
Macro assumptions used for prices and inflation were as follows. Brent oil price of $62.6/bbl in 2019, $61.8/bbl in 
2020, $63.2/bbl in 2021, $64.6/bbl in 2022, then escalating at 2.5% for the remaining life of the asset. Gas prices were 
based on the relevant gas sales agreements ranging from $5.65/MMbtu flat to $7.2/MMbtu flat.  
2017 price assumptions were as follows: Brent oil price of $67.50/bbl, with the forward curve increased at an average 
of $5/bbl in the period 2018-2021 and a tail-end increase of above $2.50/bbl. Gas price of $5.65/MMbtu flat.  
The annual inflation assumption is 2.5% (2017: 2%). 

For value-in-use calculations, future cash flows are adjusted for risks specific to the cash-generating unit and are 
discounted using a pre-tax discount rate. The pre-tax discount rate is derived from the cost of funding the Group 
calculated using an established model. The discount rates applied in assessments of impairment are reassessed each 
year. The Group average WACC was determined as 10% (2017: 10%). The country specific discount rates were then 
derived by risking the Group average WACC. Reserves assumptions for value-in-use tests are restricted to proved and 
probable reserves. 
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Significant accounting policies and general information (continued) 

The recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets is covered under exploration and evaluation expenditure - 
accounting judgements above. 

Details of impairment charges and reversals recognised in the income statement and details on the carrying amounts 
of assets are shown in Note 12 and Note 13. 

Decommissioning - estimation of provisions 

Decommissioning costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors, including changes to 
relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new technology or experience at other production sites. The expected 
timing, extent and amount of expenditure may also change. Therefore significant estimates and assumptions are made 
in determining the provision for decommissioning. As a result, there could be significant adjustments to the provisions 
established which would affect future financial results. 
 
The estimated decommissioning costs are reviewed annually by management and the results of this review are then 
used for the purposes of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
Provision for environmental clean-up and remediation costs is based on current legal and contractual requirements, 
technology and price levels. 
 
The timing and amount of future expenditures are reviewed annually, together with the interest rate used in 
discounting the cash flows. The interest rates used to determine the balance sheet obligations at the end of 2018 were 
real rates between 2.3% - 5.7%. (2017: 3.1%) 
 
Provisions and contingent liabilities are discussed in Note 23 and 32.  
 
Special remuneratory benefit tax – estimation of tax rate 

The Group is subject to a special remuneratory benefit tax in Thailand, the rate for which depends on the annual 

revenue per cumulative metre drilled. Accordingly the tax rate to be applied in calculating the Group’s deferred special 

remuneratory benefit tax depends on management’s forecast of future revenues and drilling activities. 

 

Post-retirement benefits – estimation of projected benefit obligation  

Since the acquisition of the Santos companies, accounting for post-retirement benefits has become a significant 

estimate for the Company. Accounting for post-retirement benefits involves making significant estimates when 

measuring the Company's pension plan obligations. These estimates require assumptions to be made about many 

uncertainties. Pensions and other post-retirement benefit assumptions are reviewed by management at the end of 

each year. These assumptions are used to determine the projected benefit obligation at the year-end. The 

assumptions that are the most significant to the amounts reported are the discount rate, inflation rate, salary growth 

and mortality levels. Assumptions about these variables are based on the environment in each country. The 

assumptions used vary from year to year. Changes to some of these assumptions, in particular the discount rate and 

inflation rate, could result in material changes to the carrying amounts of the Company's pension and other post-

retirement benefit obligations within the next financial year. 

The values ascribed to these assumptions are provided in Note 33.  
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2. Segmental Analysis 

The Group’s reportable and geographical segments are Thailand, Indonesia and Other. Other includes Malaysia, Cote d’ 
Ivoire and the corporate centre in the UK. Information regarding the Group’s operating segments is reported below. 

Segment Revenues and Results 
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results and assets by reportable segment (as reviewed by 
management): 

 2018 

 
Thailand 

$’000s 
Indonesia 

$’000s 
Other 1 

$’000s 
Total 

$’000s 

Oil revenue from contracts with customers 197,025 1,172 53,473 251,670 

Gas revenue from contracts with customers - 53,641 903 54,544 

(Loss)/gain relating to oil derivatives (8,101) - 133 (7,968) 

Total revenue 188,924 54,813 54,509 298,246 

Share of profit of equity-accounted joint venture 4,858 - - 4,858 

Operating profit/loss 78,388 855 62,367 141,610 

Interest revenue 151 128 1,182 1,461 

Finance cost (927) 6 (29,138) (30,059) 

Other financial gains 160 - - 160 

Profit/(loss) before tax 77,772 989 34,411 113,172 

Tax (39,098) (4,680) (8,170) (51,948) 

Profit/(loss) for the year 38,674 (3,691) 26,241 61,224 

     

Non-current assets 487,902 312,504 238,410 1,038,816 

Total assets 617,188 383,850 406,007 1,407,045 

Additions to non-current assets 53,721 17,393 4,210 75,324 

Amortisation and depreciation 57,191 24,284 19,320 100,803 

Exploration costs written off 2,709 4,589 1,893 9,191 

Investments accounted for using the equity method 75,729 - - 75,729 

1.  Other relates substantially to activities in the UK, Vietnam, Cote d’Ivoire and Malaysia 

 2017  

 
Thailand 

$’000s 
Indonesia 

$’000s 
Other 1 

$’000s 
Total 

$’000s 

Revenue (external) 169,461 19,066 - 188,527 

Share of profit of equity-accounted joint venture 4,181 - - 4,181 

Operating profit/(Loss) 80,184 (2,982) (58,131) 19,071 

Interest revenue 14 10 100 124 

Finance cost (1,205) 278 (19,959) (20,886) 

Other financial gains - -                  2,300 2,300 

Profit/(loss) before tax 78,993 (2,694) (75,690) 609 

Tax (72,923) (5) - (72,928) 
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Loss for the year 6,070 (2,699) (75,690) (72,319) 

     

Non-current assets 494,445 222,397 8,436 725,278 

Total assets 595,708 250,075 17,966 863,749 

Additions to non-current assets 31,623 12,940 20,972 65,535 

Depreciation and amortisation 61,793 10,190 13 71,996 

Exploration costs written off 541 (743) 48,086 47,884 

Investments accounted for using the equity method 120,964 - - 120,964 

1.  Other relates substantially to activities in the UK, Cote d’Ivoire and Malaysia 

The accounting policies used for the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. 

Information about Major Customers 
Included in revenue are the following which arise from sale to individual customers amounting to 8% or more of the Group 
total: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

PTT Public Company Limited 197,025            169,461 

PT PLN (Persero) 24,184 19,066 

 

Non-current operating assets 

The non-current operating assets for non-UK non-current operating assets are $874 million (2017: $631 million). 
Included in the non-UK, non-current operating assets is Thailand which makes up $412 million (2017: $418 million), 
Indonesia $462 million (2017: $212 million). 

3. Revenue 

Revenue comprises: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Sales of oil 251,670 169,461 

Sales of gas 54,544 19,066 

Revenue from contracts with customers  306,214 188,527         

Loss relating to oil derivatives (7,968) - 

Total revenue 298,246 188,527 

 

 

4. Employee Numbers and Costs 

The monthly average number of employees (including Executive Directors and consultants) employed and charged to 
operations was as follows: 
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2018 

Number 
2017 

Number 

Professional 126 95 

Administration 134 106 

Total employee numbers 260 201 

 

Staff costs and Remuneration 

Their aggregate remuneration was as follows: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Wages and salaries 7,239 6,396 

Pension 407 285 

Social security 1,157 970 

Total employee costs 8,803 7,651 

 

Directors Remuneration 

The total remuneration for all serving Directors for their period of directorship to the Company is disclosed below. 
 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Remuneration 474 689 

Pension Scheme contributions 33 39 

Compensation for loss of office 80 43 

 587 771 

 
The amount above of $587,000 (2017: $771,000) was an apportionment of remuneration paid to the Directors of Ophir 
Energy Plc, the ultimate parent.  

During the year the number of Directors who were accruing benefits under defined contribution pension schemes was as 
follows: 3 (2017: 3). One director exercised share options (2017: One) 

Highest paid Director 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Remuneration 186 313 

Pension scheme contributions 17 26 

Compensation for loss of office 80 43 

 283 382 

5. Operating Lease Arrangements  

 
2018 

  $’000s 
2017 

$’000s 
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Floating Storage Offloading (FSO) lease 14,742 15,317 

Mobile offshore production unit (MOPU) lease 3,328 - 

Offices and other leases 816 938 

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income for the 
year 

18,886 16,255 

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows: 

           2018            2017 

 

MOPU 
$’000s 

FSO 
$’000s 

Offices and 
other 

$’000s 

FSO 
$’000s 

Offices and 
other 

$’000s 

Within one year 6,745 14,082 4,739 14,369 1,018 

Within two to five years - 59,653 1,989 60,845 1,251 

Greater than five years  6,584 - 22,896 - 

Total outstanding operating lease commitments 6,745 80,319 6,728 98,110 2,269 

 

Office leases are negotiated for an average term of two years with rentals fixed for an average of two years. The FSO lease 
is for a term of 10 years and commenced in August 2014. 

 

6. Operating Profit 

Operating profit is stated after charging: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Amortisation of oil and gas properties 100,722            71,772 

Pre-licence exploration expenses 4,457 - 

Exploration costs written off 9,191                            47,884 

Loss/(gain) on acquisition/disposal of assets 1,015 (180) 

Employee costs expensed  8,803 7,651 

Auditor’s remuneration:   

Audit services 711 525 

Non-audit services 360 - 

Operating lease arrangements (see note 5) 18,886 16,255 
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Auditor’s Remuneration 
The following is an analysis of gross fees paid to the Company’s Auditor, Ernst & Young LLP  

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Audit services   

 Fees payable to the Company’s Auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 534 377 

 The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 177 148 

Total audit fees 711 525 

 

Fee of $360,000 for non-audit services relate to the audit of the combined historical financial information and pro-forma 
results which formed part of the circular related to the class 1 transaction (acquisition of Santos assets).There were no 
fees payable to Ernst & Young LLP for non-audit services in 2017. 
 
Fees payable to Ernst & Young LLP and their associates for non-audit services to the Company are not required to be 
disclosed because the consolidated Financial Statements are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis. 

 

7. Other operating expense 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Loss/(gain) on acquisition/disposal of assets 1,015 (180) 

Provision for exiting contract 5,750 8,900 

Corporate transaction expense1 2,530 - 

Other 628 761 

Other operating expense 9,923 9,481 

1Corporate transaction expenses consist of $2.5 million in relation to the acquisition of assets from Santos (see note 10)  
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8. Interest Income 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Bank interest income 1,461                   124           

Total interest income 1,461 124 

 

9. Finance Costs 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017  

$’000s 

Long term borrowings:   

Interest expense on long term borrowings 16,701 12,741 

Amortisation of fees and other interest costs 11,384 7,216 

Unwinding of discount:   

 Provision for decommissioning 2,579 1,449 

Currency exchange loss/(gain) (605) (520) 

Total finance costs 30,059 20,886 

 

10. Business combinations 

Acquisition of producing assets from Santos Limited 

On 6 September 2018, the group completed the acquisition of a package of Southeast Asian assets from Santos. 

Ophir acquired interests in three producing assets: (i) a 31.875% working interest in the Block 12W PSC in Vietnam; 

(ii) a 45% operated interest in the Sampang PSC in Indonesia; and (iii) a 67.5% operated interest in the Madura 

Offshore PSC in Indonesia for a total cash consideration of $148.7 million. The acquisition was part of Ophir’s 

strategy to grow its production base further in order to self-fund its selective exploration, appraisal and development 

activities. 

A gain on bargain purchase of $57.5 million was recognised on the acquisition being the excess of the fair value of 

net assets acquired as set out below, over the purchase consideration. The net asset fair values, in line with 

accounting standards, were determined, where applicable, and particularly in respect of oil and gas properties, by 

reference to oil and gas prices as reflected in the prevailing market view on the day of completion, as well as using 

estimates of proved oil and gas reserves and unproved volumes including timing of production, discount rates and 

exchange rates. Oil prices were based on the forward price curve for the first three years and $60 per barrel inflated 

at 2.5% for the remaining life of the asset. Gas prices were based on the relevant gas sales agreements in place at the 

time of acquisition. 
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Business combinations – (continued) 

Fair value of net assets acquired  
 

$’000 

Assets 

 

                                                                                                                                                                         
 Non-current assets   

Oil and gas properties  278,102 

Other long-term receivables                                                                                                                                                                                  75,260 

 

 
Defined benefit asset  969 

  354,331 

Current assets   

Inventory  7,029 

Trade and other receivables 

 

 24,906 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 

 9,402 

  41,337 

Total assets  395,668 

Liabilities 
 

  

(14,585) 
 

Current liabilities   

Trade and other payables 

 
 (15,842) 

Taxation payable 

 
               (8,269) 

             

 
  (24,111) 

Non-current liabilities   

Long term provisions 

 
 (68,951) 

) Deferred tax liability 

 
           (96,393) 

                   
  (165,344) 

Total liabilities  (189,455) 

Total 

 

 206,213 

 

 

  

The gross amount of trade and other receivables equates to the fair value and it is expected that the full contractual 

amounts can be collected. 

Acquisition costs of $2.5 million were recognised in other operating expenses in the consolidated income statement. 

The acquired production assets contributed $85.1 million of revenue and $84.9 million of profit before tax (including 

the gain on bargain purchase) to the consolidated income statement since the date of acquisition. Had the 

acquisition date been 1 January 2018, the acquired production assets would have contributed $267.1 million of 

revenue and $229.5 million of profit before tax (including the gain on bargain purchase) to the consolidated income 

statement.  
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11. Taxation 

Taxation charge comprises: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Current taxation   

Special remuneratory benefit 21,495 13,696 

Income tax 47,647 14,378 

Special remuneratory benefit-adjustments in respect of prior periods (24) - 

Income tax – adjustments in respect of prior periods (10) - 

Total current tax 69,108 28,074 

   

Deferred taxation   

Special remuneratory benefit (21,039) 50,876 

Income tax 3,879 (6,022) 

Total deferred tax (17,160) 44,854 

Total tax charge 51,948 72,928 

 

Special remuneratory benefit is a tax that arises on one of the Group’s assets, Bualuang in Thailand at rates that vary from 
zero to 75% of annual petroleum profit depending on the level of annual revenue per cumulative metre drilled. The current 
rate for special remuneratory benefit for 2018 was 24% (2017: 18%). Petroleum profit for the purpose of special 
remuneratory benefit is calculated as revenue less a number of deductions including operating costs, royalty, capital 
expenditures, special reduction (an uplift of certain capital expenditures) and losses brought forward. 

Reconciliation of special remuneratory benefit charge to profit before taxation 
The taxation charge for special remuneratory benefit for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as follows: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Profit before taxation  113,172 609 

Add back losses/(profits) before taxation for activities outside of Thailand (35,400) 78,383 

Profit before taxation for activities in Thailand 77,772 78,992 

Profit from investment in jointly controlled entities (4,858) (4,181) 

Profit before taxation for activities in Thailand 72,914 74,811 

Applicable rate of special remuneratory benefit  24% 18% 

Tax at the applicable rate of special remuneratory benefit 17,499 13,466 

 Change in average SRB deferred tax rate (21,040) 34,563) 

Change in SRB rate compared to current SRB tax rate 732 129 

Other non-deductible costs 3,289 11,051 

Adjustment in respect of prior periods (24) 5,363 

Total SRB charge  456 64,572 

 

The applicable rate for special remuneratory benefit is the rate applied for the year. 
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There were no unrelieved losses in respect of special remuneratory benefit for year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil). 

Special remuneratory benefit is fully deductible for corporate tax purposes in Thailand and accordingly the figure of 
$10,736,000 (2017: $6,848,000) in the income tax effective rate reconciliation below represents the incremental impact 
of current special remuneratory benefit, on the overall tax charge, after taking account of the tax relief thereon. 

Reconciliation of total tax charge to profit before taxation 
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the Statement of Comprehensive Income as 
follows: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Profit before taxation 113,172 609 

Profit from investment in jointly controlled entities (4,858) (4,181) 

Profit before taxation after deducting investment in jointly controlled entities 108,314 (3,572) 

Applicable rate (Being the weighted average Corporate tax rate for the Group)1 46% 50% 

Tax at the applicable rate of tax 49,824 (1,786) 

Tax effect of:   

 Losses not recognised 6,626 5,234 

 Current special remuneratory benefit 10,736 6,848 

    Deferred special remuneratory benefit (10,520) 24,438 

 Others 1,955 2,468 

 Non-deductible expenditure 8,529 15,827 

 Effect of different tax rates in loss-making jurisdictions (15,192) 19,939 

 Adjustments in respect of prior periods (10) (40) 

Total tax charge 51,948 71,928 

1 Loss making jurisdictions have been disregarded in the calculation of the weighted average tax rate. 
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Deferred tax 
Net deferred tax liabilities were: 

  

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

At 1 January 175,998   130,969 

Debited/(credited) to Statement of Comprehensive Income:   

Income tax 3,879 (6,022) 

Special remuneratory benefit (21,040) 50,876 

Acquisition 96,393  

Exchange adjustments (108) 175 

At 31 December 255,122 175,998 

Deferred tax liabilities included in the Balance Sheet were as follows:  

  
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Corporation tax on fixed asset timing differences 203,952 103,788 

Special remuneratory benefit on fixed asset timing differences 51,170 72,210 

Net deferred tax liabilities 255,122 175,998 

 

There are no significant unrecognised temporary differences associated with undistributed profits of subsidiaries and joint 
ventures. 

The net deferred tax liability of $255,122,000 (2017: $175,998,000) materially arose as a result of accelerated tax 
depreciation and business combinations 

The Group has pre-trading expenditure and unused tax losses in the UK of $413million (2017: $378 million). Of this 
amount, pre-trading expenditure of $25 million (2017: $25 million) will expire in the future if the Company does not 
commence trading within seven years of the year in which the expenditure was incurred. Deferred tax assets have not 
been recognised in respect of these deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses as there is not sufficient 
certainty that taxable income will be realised in the future due to the nature of the Group’s international exploration 
activities and the long lead times in either developing or otherwise realising exploration assets. 
 

12. Intangible Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017  

$’000s 

Exploration and evaluation   

At 1 January 47,297 90,936      

Additions1 15,428             21,255 

Disposal of assets -             (6,402) 

Transfers to PPE -            (10,608) 

Costs written off (9,191)            (47,884) 

At 31 December 53,534             47,297             

 1 Additions for the year ended 31 December 2018 included exploration activities in: Paus Biru ($6.2 million), West Bangkanai ($4.2 million). Additions for 2017 Cote d'Ivoire 513 ($12.9 
million).  
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The amounts shown above for intangible exploration and evaluation assets represent the Group’s current exploration 
projects. All assets are held in Indonesia. 
 
2018 costs written off 

The 2018 write off totalled $9.2 million. The most significant write off was $4.2 million in North East Bangkanai. The 
recoverable amount of the Block was $nil. This was based on management’s estimate of value in use. The trigger for 
expenditure write off was management’s assessment that no further expenditure on exploration and evaluation of 
hydrocarbons in the Block was budgeted or planned within the current licence terms. 

Intangible Exploration and Evaluation Assets – (continued) 

2017 costs written off 

The 2017 write off totalled $47.9 million. The most significant write off was $32.3 million in Cote d’Ivoire. The 
recoverable amount of the Block was $nil. This was based on management’s estimate of value in use. The trigger for 
expenditure write off was management’s assessment that no further expenditure on exploration and evaluation of 
hydrocarbons in the Block was budgeted or planned within the current licence terms. 
 

13. Property, Plant and Equipment 

 Oil and gas properties Other fixed assets Total net  
book value 

$’000s 
 

Cost 
$’000s 

Amortisation 
$’000s 

Total 
$’000s 

Cost 
$’000s 

Depreciation 
$’000s 

Total 
$’000s 

1 January 2017  1,548,974 (976,371) 572,603 6,231 (5,602) 629 573,232 

Additions for the period1  43,910 - 43,910 42 - 42 43,952 

Amortisation and depreciation - (71,772) (71,772) - (224) (224) (71,996) 

Impairment reversal - 27,505 27,505 - - - 27,505 

Transfers from exploration and  evaluation 
assets  

10,608 - 10,608 
- - - 

10,608 

31 December 2017 1,603,492 (1,020,638) 582,854 6,273 (5,826) 447 583,301 

Additions for the period1 59,856 - 59,856 40 - 40 59,896 

Amortisation and depreciation - (100,722) (100,722) - (81) (81) (100,803) 

Acquisition of subsidiary 278,102 - 278,102 - - - 278,102 

31 December 2018 1,941,450 (1,121,360) 820,090 6,313 (5,907) 406 820,496 

 

1Additions in 2018 are stated net of a $7.9 million (2017:Nil) decommissioning remeasurement (pre-tax). 

There were no impairment charges in 2018. The 2017 Impairment reversal was due to further increased reserves related 
to the Bualuang infill drilling results in Thailand which had a recoverable amount of $424m based on management’s 
estimate of value in use. The discount rate used was 22% (pre-tax).    
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14. Other Long term receivables 

 2018 

$’000 

2017 

$’000 

Security deposits – Rental properties 437 221 

Amounts held in Escrow1 75,685 - 

Other2  12,935 18,850 

Total long term receivables 89,057 19,071 

1 Amounts held in Escrow relate to funds held in joint operations’ bank accounts for decommissioning activities. 

2The other balance primarily represents VAT arising in respect of the Group’s Indonesian operations.  

15. Commitments and Guarantees 

Bank Guarantees 
At 31 December 2018, there were outstanding bank guarantees issued by banks on behalf of the Group, amounting to 
$12,551,000 (2017: $9,312,500). 

Capital Commitments 
The Group’s outstanding financial capital commitments represent the minimum agreed amounts the Group will expend 
completing its obligated work programmes of carrying out geophysical and geological studies, and to drill exploration and 
appraisal wells. At 31 December 2018, the Group’s anticipates it will discharge its minimum financial capital commitments 
as follows: 
 
31 December 2018 

 
2019 

$’000s 
2020 

$’000s 
2021-2022 

$’000s 

Future capital commitments 2,535 80 3,660 

 
31 December 2017 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2019 

$’000s 
2020-2021 

$’000s 

Future capital commitments              3,670              5,840 90 

 

Under certain Indonesia licence agreements, SKKMigas has the right to determine that a 10% undivided interest in the 
total rights and obligations under the PSC be offered to a Government-designated Indonesian company, the shareholders 
of which shall be Indonesian Nationals or a Local Government company (the “Indonesian Participant”). 
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16. Group Companies 

A complete list of Salamander Energy plc Group companies at 31 December 2018, and Group’s percentage of share capital 
(to the nearest whole number) are set out in note 12 (for the parent company) within these consolidated financial 
statements on pages 92 to 94. All of these subsidiaries have been included in these consolidated financial statements on 
pages 28 to 82. 

Salamander Energy Group Limited is the only direct subsidiary of the Company. 

Jointly Controlled Entities 
 

Company Country of Incorporation Percentage Holding 

APICO LLC United States of America 27.18% 

APICO (Khorat) Holdings LLC United States of America 27.18% 

APICO (Khorat) Limited Thailand 27.18% 

 

Interests in the APICO group of companies are classified as joint ventures and are accounted for using the equity method 

in compliance with IFRS 11.  

17. Inventories 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Oil             5,820               3,988 

Materials            23,084             18,824      

Total Inventories 28,904                22,812 

The inventory valuation is stated net of a provision of $7.4 million (2017: $5.1 million) to write inventories down to their net realisable value.  

 

18. Trade and Other Receivables 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Trade debtors and other debtors 51,959              16,710        

Prepayments 5,737               1,866      

Total trade and other receivables 57,696               18,576 

 

All debtors are current. There are no receivables that are past due or impaired, and therefore no expected credit losses 
have been recognised.  
See Note 25 for more details on how the Group manages its credit risk. Trade and other debtors primarily relate to 
receivables from joint operation partners. 
Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

19. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

                                                                                                                                                                                      
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Amounts held directly by the Group1 262,535              87,963 

Total cash and cash equivalents  262,535              87,963 

1 $12.6 million relates to bank guarantees which are treated as restricted cash (2017:$9.3 million), see note 15   
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Cash and Cash Equivalents – (continued) 

Financial institutions, and their credit ratings, who held greater than 5% of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents at the 
balance sheet date were as follows: 

Bank  
S&P Credit 

Ratings 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

HSBC   A-1 120,739 12,894 

BNPP  A-1 - 3 

SCB A-2 89,834 69,535 

ANZ A-1 40,886 - 

 
20. Bank Borrowings 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Principal repayable on maturity 253,200                   - 

Less unamortised fees (7,501)                   - 

Total amortised borrowings 245,699                    - 

Less amounts due within one year (103,200)                    - 

Total long term borrowings 142,499                    - 

 

In 2017, the group repaid its outstanding debt on the 2012 reserves based lending (RBL) facility. Ophir replaced this 
facility with a new $250 million RBL facility secured against the Group’s producing assets in Southeast Asia. This facility 
originally had a seven-year term due to mature 30 June 2024. In addition to the committed $250 million, a further $100 
million was available on an uncommitted “accordion” basis. 
 
Interest will accrue at a rate of between 4% and 4.5% plus LIBOR depending on the maturity of the facility. $150 million 
was drawn down from the RBL facility in July 2018. 
 
In May 2018, Ophir announced it had agreed to acquire a package of Southeast Asian assets from Santos Limited, as 
described in Note 10. In order to fund the Santos acquisition, an 18-month bridge facility of up to $130 million was signed 
in August 2018. On completion of the acquisition, $103 million was drawn down from the facility. Fees of $7.2 million 
were incurred in relation to the facility. 
 
In December 2018 Ophir exercised the accordion on the RBL facility and increased the facility by $100 million to $350 
million and the maturity was extended by 18 months to 31 December 2025. The increased facility would be used to pay 
down the bridge and as such fees of $7.2m incurred in relation to the bridge were written off to the income statement. 
In January 2019, the bridge facility was fully repaid. 
 
Fees totalling $8.8 million have been incurred in relation to the RBL facility and are being amortised over the term of the 
facility. The borrowing base amount available on the facility as at 31/12/2018 was $68 million. 
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21. Bonds Payable 

The unsecured callable bonds were issued in December 2013 at an issue price of $150 million. The bonds have a term of 
six years and one month and will be repaid in full at maturity. The bonds carry a coupon of 9.75% and were issued at par.  

 

2018 
$’000s 

2017 
$’000s 

Liability component at start of period 101,589 103,258 

Coupon interest charged 10,218 10,218 

Interest paid (8,014) (12,422) 

Amortisation of fees 578 535 

Total liability component at end of period 104,371 101,589 

 

22. Net Debt 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Amounts Due on Maturity:   

Bank borrowings (see note 20) 253,200 - 

Bonds payable (see note 21) 104,800 104,800 

Total gross debt 358,000 104,800 

Less cash and cash equivalents (see note 19) (262,535) (87,963) 

Total net debt 95,465 16,837 

 

For purposes of net debt computation, the bonds payable figure relates to the face value of the outstanding bonds as at 
and bank borrowings relates to the principal repayable on maturity for the periods presented. 

At the balance sheet date, the bank borrowings are calculated to be repayable as follows: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

On demand or due within one year 103,200 - 

In the second year - - 

In the third to fifth year inclusive - - 

After five years 150,000 - 

Total principal payable on maturity 253,200 - 
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23. Provisions 

Provisions for decommissioning and restoration of oil and gas assets are: 

 

Decommissioning and 
restoration of oil and gas 

properties 
$’000s 

Other 
provisions 

$’000s 
Total 

$’000s 

At 1 January 2018                51,257           8,900 60,157 

(Remeasurement)/Additions 7,889 5,750 13,639 

Acquisition 68,951 - 68,951 

Unwinding of discount 2,579 - 2,579 

At 31 December 2018 130,676 14,650 145,326 

 
Balance at the end of the year 

    

Current - 14,650 14,650 

Non-current 130,676 - 130,676 

    

 
Decommissioning and restoration of oil and gas properties 
The decommissioning of oil and gas properties is expected to fall due from 2021 onwards.  

Other provisions 
Provisions of $14.65 million represents the unavoidable net cost of exiting contracts.  

24. Trade and Other Payables 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Trade and other creditors 37,997 11,664 

Amounts payable to related parties  5,755 11,426 

Amounts payable to parent company 45,636 205,064 

Accruals and deferred income 35,075               17,293 

Total trade and other payables payable within one year 124,463 245,447 

Other long term payables 14,739 15,279 

Total trade and other payables payable after one year 14,739 15,279 

 
Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. The Directors consider the carrying value 
of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value. Amounts payable to the parent company are due on demand. 

25. Financial Instruments 

Capital Risk Management 
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group are able to continue as going concerns while maximising 
the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group 
consists of debt, which includes the borrowings and bonds payable disclosed in notes 20 and 21, cash and cash equivalents 
as disclosed in note 19, and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued capital, reserves and 
retained earnings as disclosed in note 27, note 31 and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity. This is further 
discussed in the Directors’ Report. 
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Gearing Ratio  
Management reviews the capital structure on a continuing basis. The gearing ratio is defined as net debt divided by net 
book equity plus net debt and at the year-end was as follows: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Net debt (see note 22) 95,465 16,837 

Equity plus net debt 575,581 248,252 

Gearing ratio 17% 7% 

 
Significant Accounting Policies 

Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which the income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in the statement of accounting policies. 

Categories of Financial Instruments 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Financial assets:   

 Cash and bank balances 262,535 87,963 

 Loans and receivables 118,829 9,386 

    Mark to market value of oil derivatives 9,970 - 

Financial liabilities:   

 Amortised cost 420,171 344,137 

 Mark to market value of oil derivatives - 3,582 

 

Financial assets exclude prepayments and tax receivables. Financial liabilities exclude tax and social security and deferred 
income.  

There were no reclassifications of financial assets during the year (2017: nil). 

Financial Risk Management 
The Group’s Board of Directors monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through 
an internal risk register. These include commodity, foreign exchange, credit, liquidity and interest rate risks. 

Commodity Price Risk 
The Group’s policy is to consider oil and gas price hedging when and where it is economically attractive to lock-in prices 
at levels that protect the cash flow of the Group, its business plan and debt related coverage ratios. All hedging 
transactions to date have been related directly to expected cash flows and no speculative transactions have been 
undertaken.  

In order to execute its Risk Management Strategy, the Group uses a derivative instrument which sets a floor on the 
price it receives on the sale of oil by giving up some of the upside profit potential. 
In 2018 Ophir entered into two price swaps with a syndicate of banks as described below: 
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2018 Hedges 

In August 2018, the Group purchased, with zero cost structure, a Brent swap at an average $70.24/bbl and a call at an 
average price of $78.24/bbl, both for 2,000 bpd. The hedging relationship is for a period of 12 months, based on 30% of 
the Group’s share of production from the Block 12W PSC in Vietnam. 

In November 2018, the Group purchased, with a zero cost structure, a Brent swap at an average $56.00/bbl and a call at 
an average price of $66.47/bbl, both for 2,000 bpd. The hedging relationship is for a period of 12 months, based on 26% 
of the forecast production from the Bualuang oil field in Thailand. 

As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of outstanding commodity contracts amounted to an asset of $9.9 million. For 
cash flow hedgesthe effective portion of the hedges are recognised in OCI and reclassified to profit and loss in the same 
period during which the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss. The amount in equity at 31 December 2018 is $9.9 
million maturing in 2019. $8 million of cash flow hedges have been reclassified to the income statement in 2018. 
 
2017 Hedges 

In late 2017, the Group hedged approximately 27% of its 2018 production. The Group purchased, with a zero cost 
structure, a Brent swap at an average $59.68/bbl and a call at an average price of $68.08/bbl, both for 3,200 bpd. 
The hedging relationship is for a period of 12 months, based on forecast cash flows. 

As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of outstanding commodity contracts amounted to a liability of $3.5 million. 
Before 1 January 2018, the Group only claimed hedge accounting for the intrinsic value of the contract with any fair 
value attributable to time value taken immediately to the income statement. The amount in equity at 31 December 
2017 was $5.8 million maturing in 2018, with $2.3 million recognised in other financial gains. 
 
The impact of the hedging instruments on the statement of financial position is as follows: 
 

 Notional amount 
$’000 

Carrying amount $’000 Line item in the 
statement of financial 

position 

Change in fair value used 
for measuring 

ineffectiveness for the 
period 

As at 31 December 2018     
Oil price cash flow hedges 92,104 9,970 Derivative financial 

instruments 
13,552 

As at 31 December 2017     
Oil price cash flow hedges 78,431 (3,582) Derivative financial 

instruments 
(5,882) 

 
The impact of hedged items on the statement of financial position is as follows: 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 Change in fair 
value used for 

measuring 
ineffectiveness 

$’000 

Cash flow 
hedge reserve 

$’000 

Cost of hedging 
reserve $’000 

Change in fair 
value used for 

measuring 
ineffectiveness 

$’000 

 

Cash flow 
hedge reserve 

$’000 

 

Cost of hedging 
reserve $’000 

Highly probable 
forecast sales 

13,552 9,970 - (5,882) (5,882) - 

 
The effect of the cash flow hedge in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is as follows: 
 

 Total hedging 
gain/(loss) 

recognised in OCI 
$’000 

Ineffectiveness 
recognised in profit 

or loss $’000 

Cost of hedging 
recognised in OCI 

$’000 

Amount reclassified 
from OCI to profit 

or loss $’000 

Line item in the 
statement of profit 

or loss $’000 

Year ended 31 
December 2018 

     

Highly probable 
forecast sales 

13,552 - - 7,968 Revenue 
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 Total hedging 
gain/(loss) 

recognised in OCI 
$’000 

Ineffectiveness 
recognised in profit 

or loss $’000 

Cost of hedging 
recognised in OCI 

$’000 

Amount reclassified 
from OCI to profit 

or loss $’000 

Line item in the 
statement of profit 

or loss $’000 

Year ended 31 
December 2017 

     

Highly probable 
forecast sales 

(5,882) - - - - 

 
 
Foreign Exchange Risk 
 
The Group has currency exposures arising from assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and transactions 
executed in currencies other than the respective functional currencies. 
 

The Group, has adopted US Dollars as its functional and reporting currency as this represents the currency of its primary 
economic environment as the majority of the Group’s funding and expenditure is US Dollars.  
 
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is managed by holding the majority of its funds in US Dollars, as a natural 
hedge, with remaining funds being held mainly in Indonesian Rupiah IDR and Thailand Baht (THB) to meet commitments 
in those currencies. 
 
The main underlying economic currency of the Group’s cash flows is the US Dollar. This is because the Group’s products, 
oil and gas, are priced internationally in US Dollars. Ophir’s foreign currency exchange management policy is to limit 
economic and material transactional exposures arising from currency movements against the US Dollar. 
 
For highly probable forecast cash flows the Group fixes the US Dollar of non-US dollar sales by using currency forwards. 
The exposure mainly relates to the Thai Baht. At 31 December 2018, there are no open positions hedging these 
exposures (2017: No open positions). 
 
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s predominant exposure to foreign exchange rates related to cash and cash 
equivalents held in THB by companies with US Dollar functional currencies. 
 

At the statement of financial position date, the Group’s net debt had the following exposure to GBP, THB and AUD foreign 
currency that is not designated in cash flow hedges: 

                Assets               Liabilities 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

US Dollar equivalent of:     

UK Pounds Sterling  23 20 204 188 

Indonesian Rupiah  1,372 1,752 107,734 1,351 

Singapore Dollar  (33) 5 - (5) 

Thailand Baht  20,903 64,767 5,803 2,989 

Malaysian Ringgit  (1,220) 76 117 20 

Vietnamese dong 2,168 - - - 

 

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase or decrease in the US Dollar against the relevant foreign 
currency. The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation 
at the year-end for a 5% change in the foreign currency rate.  
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Foreign Exchange Risk – (continued) 
 
A positive number below indicates an increase in profit after tax where the US Dollar strengthens by 5% against the relevant 
currency. For a 5% weakening of the US Dollar against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact 
on the profit after tax and the balances below would be negative. 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Change in profit or loss:   

 UK Pounds Sterling  (9) (34) 

 Indonesian Rupiah  (5,320) 80 

 Singapore Dollar  (2) 1 

 Thailand Baht  755 12,356 

 Malaysian Ringgit  (67) 11 

Vietnamese dong 108 - 

 

Credit Risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter-party will default on its obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The 
Group is exposed to the following credit and counter party risks. 

In respect of cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s principal financial asset, the credit risk is deemed limited because the 
majority of the cash and cash equivalents are deposited with banks with A credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies, as set out in note 19. 

In respect of the Group’s trade sales, the Group manages credit risk through dealing with, whenever possible, either 

international energy companies or state owned companies based in Thailand and Indonesia and obtaining sufficient 

collateral where appropriate. The Group consistently monitors counterparty credit risk. An impairment analysis is 

performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due.  

The carrying value of financial assets recorded in these financial statements represents the Group’s maximum 

exposure to credit risk at the year-end without taking account of any collateral obtained. In addition, the Group’s 

operations are typically structured via contractual joint venture arrangements. As such the Group is reliant on joint 

venture partners to fund their capital or other funding obligations in relation to assets and operations which are not 

yet cash generative. The Group closely monitors the risks and maintains a close dialogue with those counterparties 

considered to be highest risk in this regard. 

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, and as such collateral is not requested nor is it the 

Group’s policy to securitise its trade and other receivables. 

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s experience of bad 

debts has not been significant. 

Liquidity Risk 
The Group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents, and borrowing facilities to meet 
its forecast short, medium and long-term commitments. The Group continually monitors its actual and forecast cash flows 
to ensure that there are adequate reserves and banking facilities to meet the maturing profiles of its financial assets and 
liabilities. 

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date the Group was 
required to pay at the balance sheet date. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. 
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Liquidity Risk – (continued) 
 

2018 

Weighted 
average effective 

interest rate 
% 

Within 1 year 
$’000s 

1-5 years 
$’000s 

5+  years 
$’000s 

Total  
$’000s 

Non-interest bearing - 70,101 - - 70,101 

Variable interest rate instruments - 103,200 - 142,499 245,699 

Fixed interest rate instruments:      

– Bond payable 9.75 - 104,371 - 104,371 

Total  173,301 104,371 142,499 420,171 

 

 

2017 

Weighted 
average effective 

interest rate 
% 

Within 1 year 
$’000s 

1-5 years 
$’000s 

5+  years 
$’000s 

Total  
$’000s 

Non-interest bearing n/a 246,130 - - 246,130 

Variable interest rate instruments - - - - - 

Fixed interest rate instruments:      

– Bond payable 9.75 10,218 115,018 - 125,236 

Total  256,348 115,018 - 371,366 

 

Additionally, note 15 to the Financial Statements set-outs the Group’s outstanding financial commitments at the balance 
sheet date. 

Interest Rate Risk 
The Group is exposed to interest rate movements through its lendings, bank borrowings and cash and cash equivalent 
deposits, which are at rates fixed to LIBOR. 

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the Group’s exposure to an interest rate movement and is 
prepared assuming the amount of the net debt and interest rate swaps outstanding at the balance sheet date were 
outstanding for the whole year. 

For net debt, if interest rates had been 0.5% higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss 
after tax for the year ended 31 December 2018 would have increased or decreased by $0.4 million (2017: $0.1 million) 
respectively. This is principally attributable to the Group reducing gross debt as illustrated in note 20. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost. 
 
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the 
Financial Statements approximate their fair values. 

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value. 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows: 

• The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid 
markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices (includes listed redeemable notes, bills of exchange, 
debentures and perpetual notes). 
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments – (continued) 
 
• The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined in 

accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable 
current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments. 

• The fair values of derivative instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, a 
discounted cash flow analysis is performed using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments for non-
optional derivatives, and option pricing models for optional derivatives. Foreign currency forward contracts are 
measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves derived from quoted interest rates matching maturities 
of the contracts. Interest rate swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted 
based on the applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates.  

Fair value hierarchy 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
technique:  

Level 1 quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, 
either directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on 
observable market data. 

 

The fair value of the group’s long term borrowings are determined using quoted prices in active markets, and so fall 
within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 

The fair value of commodity hedges are provided by banks using industry standard models that consider various 
assumptions, including quoted forward prices, time value and other relevant economic factors. These derivative 
contracts are categorised within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

 Year ended  
31 Dec 2018 

$’000 

Year ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Level 1 (106,765) (109,870) 

Level 2 (247,396) (3,582) 

Level 3 - - 

 (354,161) (113,452) 

There were no transfers between fair value levels during the year. 
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Financial Assets and Liabilities 

Current assets and liabilities 

Management consider that due to the short term nature of current assets and liabilities, the carrying values equates to 
their fair value. 

Non-current assets and liabilities 

The carrying value and fair values of non-current financial instruments are shown in the following tables: 

 

As at 
31 Dec 2018 

$’000 

As at 
31 Dec 2018 

$’000 

As at 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

As at 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

 
Carrying 

value 
Estimated fair 

value 
Carrying 

value 
Estimated fair 

value 

Financial Liabilities:      

Current Interest bearing bank loans (103,200) (103,200) - - 

Non-current Interest bearing bank loans (142,499) (154,166) - - 

Bonds payable (104,371) (106,765) (101,589) (109,870) 

Total (350,070) (364,131) (101,589) (109,870) 

 

26. Related Party Transactions 

Transactions with Key Management Personnel 
Compensation of key management personnel, which the Company defines as its Directors, is disclosed in Note 4 of the 
Group financial statements. In addition the Group and Company incurred social security costs of $70,000 (2017: 
$100,000) in respect of the directors. 

Related Party Transactions with Ophir Energy plc Group 

During the year, Ophir Energy plc made loans to the Salamander Group of $14.1 million (2017: $38.7 million).  

$173.5 million of loans were capitalised as equity within Salamander Energy plc (2017: Nil) 

The Group held balances (due to)/receivable from related parties at the balance sheet date as follows: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Parent company:   

     Ophir Energy plc (45,636) (205,064) 

Entities under common control of the parent company:   

     Ophir Asia Services Ltd (461) (747) 

     Ophir Holdings Limited (3,560) (3,560) 

     Ophir Holdings and Services Limited (2,241) (8,530) 

Subsidiaries:   

     Myanmar (Block AD-3) Ltd 48 30 

     Ophir Energy Indonesia (West Papua IV) 1 Ltd 17 573 

     Ophir Energy Indonesia (Kofiau) 1 Ltd 63 137 
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     Ophir Energy Indonesia (Aru) Ltd 164 301 

     Ophir Indonesia (North Ganal) ltd  607 567 

     Ophir Gabon (Manga) Limited (395)   (215) 

     Ophir Energy Indonesia (Halmahera-Kofiau) 1 Ltd - 16 

     Ophir Equatorial Guinea (Block R) Limited 3 2 

 

27. Share Capital 

Share capital as at 31 December 2018 amounted to $48,050,000 (2017: $48,050,000). 

Allotted and Fully Paid Equity Share Capital 

 

2018 
Ordinary 

Shares 
10p 

Number 

2017 
Ordinary 

Shares 
10p 

Number 

At 1 January 266,146,184 266,146,183 

At 31 December 266,146,184 266,146,183 

 

During the year, the group has issued one ordinary share in settlement of a liability of $173,469k owed to the parent 
company 

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.  

28. Share Option Schemes and Share Based Payment 

Following completion of the Ophir acquisition on 3 March 2015, all options granted under Deferred Equity Plan and 
Performance Share Plan were deemed vested on 3 March 2015. Options held by employees in Salamander Energy 
were subject to a scheme arrangement whereby option holders received 0.5719 of one new share in Ophir Energy plc in 
return for each option owned in Salamander Energy plc. There are currently no active share schemes in the Group.  
Ophir Energy share option plans 

In 2015, all Salamander Group employees were eligible to participate in the Ophir Energy Plc share option plans. Details of 
the plans are given below 

Ophir Energy Long Term Incentive Share Option Plan 

This plan is designed to give awards to senior management subject to outperforming a comparator group of similarly 
focused oil and gas exploration companies in terms of shareholder return over a three year period. The plan awards a 
number of shares to senior management based on a multiple of salary. However, these shares only vest after a three year 
period and the full award is made only if Ophir has performed in the top quartile when compared against a selected peer 
group of upstream oil and gas companies. 

Ophir Energy Deferred Share plan 

The Deferred Share Plan (DSP) was introduced to provide executive management with a means of retaining and 
incentivising employees. The structure of the DSP will enable a portion of participants’ annual bonuses to be deferred into 
options to acquire ordinary shares in the capital of the Company. All options issued to date vest after a three year period. 
Options have an exercise period of 10 years from the date of grant. The DSP operates in conjunction with the Ophir Energy 
plc Employee Benefit Trust (the trust). The Trust will hold ordinary shares in the Company for the benefit of the Group’s 
employees and former employees, which may then be used on a discretionary basis to settle the DSP Awards as and when 
they are exercised. No shares have been acquired by the Trust. 
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Ophir Energy Deferred Share plan – (continued) 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share 
options during the period for the above schemes. These are denominated in GBP and have been translated to US Dollars 
using the closing exchange rate for presentation purposes. 

 2018 Number 2018 WAEP 2017 Number 2017 WAEP 

Outstanding options at the beginning of the year 1,770,332 0.33c/0.25p 1,795,500 0.33c/0.25p 

Granted during the year -  - - 

Exercised during the year (347,711) 0.33c/0.25p - - 

Expired during the year (272,783) 0.33c/0.25p (25,168)     0.33c/0.25p 

Outstanding options at the end of the year 1,149,838 0.33c/0.25p 1,770,332 0.33/0.25p 

Exercisable at the end of the year - - - - 

 

There were no share options granted during the year (2017: nil). The weighted average exercise price of options granted 
during the year was $0.0033 (2017:$0.0033). The exercise price for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.0033 
(2017: $0.0033) with a remaining exercise period of 1 year. 
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29. Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method 
The investments represent the Group’s interest in the following jointly controlled entities, accounted for using the 
equity method in compliance with IFRS 11. 
 

Company Percentage Holding 

APICO LLC 27.18% 

APICO (Khorat) Holdings LLC 27.18% 

APICO (Khorat) Limited 27.18% 
 

The investments in the jointly controlled entities have been classified as joint ventures under IFRS 11 and therefore 
the equity method of accounting has been used in the consolidated financial statements.  
 
The Group’s share of the results of its joint venture and the Group share of its assets and liabilities as at 31 December 
2018 are shown in the tables below: 
 

Results for the year ended 31 December 2018 
  2018 2017 

 $’000s $’000s 

Revenue 13,709 12,215 

Profit before interest and taxation 9,107 7,213 

Net finance costs (209) (136) 

Profit before taxation 8,898 7,077 

Taxation (4,040) (2,896) 

Profit for the year 4,858 4,181 
 
 

Summarised financial information of APICO LLC 

Results for the year ended 31 December 2018 
   2018 2017 

   $’000s   $’000s  

Sales and other operating revenues   50,437 44,941 
Profit before interest and taxation   33,507 26,537 
Net finance costs   (769) (500) 
Profit before taxation   32,738 26,037 

Taxation   (14,866) (10,654) 

Total  17,872 15,383 

    
 

Group share of assets and liabilities 
   2018 2017 

   $’000s   $’000s  

Non-current assets            45,165 46,147 
Current assets   6,325 3,903 

Total assets   51,490 50,050 

Current liabilities   (6,079) (4,760) 

Non-current liabilities  (1,596) (2,077) 

Total liabilities  (7,675) (6,837) 

Net assets  43,815 43,213 
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Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method – (continued) 
 
Movements in the Group’s investment during the year were as follows: 

At 1 January 2017  77,581 

 - Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method 4,181 

- Dividends received (6,523) 

- Additions 370 

At 1 January 2018  75,609 

 - Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method 4,858 

- Dividends received (6,562) 

- Additions 1,824 

At 31 December 2018 75,729 

 

30. Dividends 

The Company has declared no dividend for the year (2017: nil). 

 

31.  Other reserves 

Other reserves comprise: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Share-based payment reserve1 29,114 28,658 

Convertible bond  11,227 11,227 

Merger reserve 241,731 241,731 

Cash flow hedge reserve2 9,970 (5,882) 

Total other reserves 292,042 275,734 

1 The share-based payment reserve represents the cost of share-based payments to Directors, employees and third parties. 
2 The cash flow hedge reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined to be an effective hedge. It 

includes a $10m credit (2017: $5.9 million debit) relating to commodity price hedges which will only be reclassified to the income statement once the forecast sale 
occurs.  
 

32. Contingent liabilities 

Santos acquisition 

As described in Note 10 the group completed the acquisition of three producing assets from Santos on 6 

September 2018. As part of this transaction, it was agreed that Ophir would also acquire four exploration assets as 

set out below: 

(i) a 20% non-operated interest in the Deepwater Block R PSC in Sabah, Malaysia;  

(ii) a 50% operated interest in Block 123 PSC in the frontier Phu Khanh Basin, Vietnam;  

(iii) a 40% non-operated interest in Block 124 PSC in the frontier Phu Khanh Basin, Vietnam; and  

(iv) a 45% operated interest in Block SS-11 PSC, Bangladesh 
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The acquisition of Block R in Malaysia completed in December 2018. The other assets have not yet completed and 

are conditional on regulatory consents. If completion of any or all of the remaining exploration assets is terminated,  

  Contingent liabilities – (continued) 

Ophir has agreed to pay Santos an amount in recognition of the ongoing commitments in respect of these 

exploration licences that Santos will indirectly retain as a result of such termination. Ophir’s best estimates of these 

ongoing work commitments as at 31 December 2018 are set out below: 

Block 123 Vietnam - $14.3 million 

Block 124 Vietnam - $6.0 million 

Block SS-11 Bangladesh - $5.5 million 

33. Defined benefit pension plan 
 

Ophir operates a post-employment defined benefit arrangement in Indonesia, as regulated under the Indonesian Law 
No. 13/2003.  The arrangement covers two sets of employees, one set under the Bangkanai PSC and one set under the 
Sampang PSC acquired from Santos in September 2018. Prior to the acquisition of the Santos assets, the defined 
benefit scheme under the Bangkanai PSC was considered immaterial to the group, and therefore full IAS 19 disclosures 
were not presented. Since the acquisition, the Group now considers this a material disclosure and have presented IAS 
19 disclosures below. The arrangement covers retirement, death, disability and voluntary resignation benefits, which 
are based on final wages. The actuarial valuations of scheme assets and the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation have been carried out at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. The key actuarial assumptions applied 
in determining the present value of the defined benefit obligations, the related current service cost and past service 
cost, which are measured using the projected unit credit method, are as follows: 
 

Key economic assumptions used: 
 

 2018 2017 

Discount rate 7% - 8.5% 7.5% 

Wage increases1 4% - 6.5% 6.5% 

Weighted average duration of obligation 8.03 years 13.9 years 
1 Includes the effect of inflation 

 

Mortality and disability rates  

The mortality rates for 2017 and 2018 follow the Indonesia Mortality Table 2011 (TMI III). The disability rate is set at 
5% of the mortality rate for each year. 

 

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss account in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows: 
 

 2018 

$’000 

2017 

$’000 

Current service cost 794 533 

Past service cost  - (122) 

Net interest cost 124 113 

 918 524 
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Defined benefit pension plan – (continued) 

 

Financial disclosures 

Recognised in other comprehensive income: 

 
 2018 

$’000 

2017 

$’000 

Actuarial gain/(loss) 189 (252) 

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts in net interest) (22) - 

 167 (252) 

 
The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit 
schemes is as follows: 

 
 2018 

$’000 

20171 

$’000 

Present value of defined benefit obligations (13,159) (1,988) 

Fair value of scheme assets 11,888 349 

Net liability recognised in the balance sheet (1,271)2 (1,639) 
1 The present value of defined benefit obligations and the fair value of scheme assets in 2017 were disclosed with trade and other payable and trade and other 

receivables respectively in the 2017 statement of financial position. 

2 $1,257,000 is classed as short term and is disclosed within trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. $14,000 is classed as long term and 

is disclosed within net defined benefit liability in the statement of financial position 

 
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows: 

 

 2018 

$’000 

2017 

$’000 

At 1 January (1,988) (1,420) 

Acquisition  (10,891) - 

Service cost (794) (411) 

Interest cost (124) (113) 

Foreign exchange gains and (losses) 16 208 

Actuarial gains and (losses) 167 (252) 

Benefits paid 455 - 

 (13,159) (1,988) 
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Movements in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows: 

 
 2018 

$’000 

2017 

$’000 

At 1 January 349 784 

Acquisition 10,604 - 

Interest income 183 - 

Foreign exchange gains and (losses) (304) - 

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net 
interest cost) 

22 - 

Contributions from the employer 1,640 - 

Benefits paid (606) (435) 

 11,888 349 

 
The Sampang plan assets ($10.5 million) are held in money market instruments and the Bangkanai assets ($1.4 
million) are held in deposit accounts. The carrying value of the plan assets equates to its fair value. 

The group does not expect to make any contributions to the plan in 2019. 

 

Risk factor and sensitivity analyses 
Changes in the regulatory and legislative environment could increase the cost of compliance and affect our 
provisions. Potential changes to pension or financial market regulation could also impact funding requirements of 
the group.  

The discount rate and salary growth have a significant effect on the amounts reported. A one percentage point 
change, in isolation, in certain assumptions as at 31 December 2018 for the group’s plans would have had the effects 
shown in the table below.  

 
 Decrease/(increase) in defined benefit obligation  

 2018 

$’000 

2017 

$’000 

Discount rate   

1% increase 252 223 

1% decrease (290) (264) 

Future salary increases   

1% increase (393) (274) 

1% decrease 356 234 
 

34. Post Balance Sheet Events 
On 30 January 2019 the Board of the group’s parent company Ophir Energy plc reached agreement with Medco Energi 
Global (MedCo) for the recommended acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Ophir Energy plc for a cash 
consideration of 55 pence per share. On 1 March 2019, the Company issued a formal scheme document to all shareholders 
setting out the details of the recommended cash acquisition of Ophir Energy plc by means of a Scheme of Arrangement 
under Part 26 of the Companies Act 2006.  On 20 March 2019, MedCo increased their offer to 57.5p. This offer was 
successfully voted through by shareholders at a general meeting on 25 March 2019. The agreed deal completion long-stop 
date is 20 June 2019.  
 
In January 2019, $100 million was drawn down from the increased RBL facility and used to repay the $103.2 million Bridge 
facility.
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 Notes 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Assets    

Non-current assets    

Investments 3 478,140 423,389 

Other receivables  - 4,797 

Loans to group companies  165,411 158,717 

Total non-current assets  643,551 586,903 

    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents  79,868 599 

Derivative financial instruments  2,199 - 

Trade and other Receivables  158 780 

Total current assets  82,225 1,379 

Total assets  725,776 588,282 

    

Liabilities    

Non-current liabilities    

Loans from group companies  6,352 4,158 

Interest-bearing bank borrowings  142,498 - 

Other creditors  3,081 921 

Bonds payable 4 104,371 101,589 

Total non-current liabilities  256,302 106,668 

    

Current liabilities    

Derivative financial instruments  - 3,582 

Loans from parent company 5 49,480 173,469 

Total current liabilities        49,480           177,051 

Total liabilities  305,782 283,719 

Net assets  419,994 304,563 

    

Equity    

Share capital  9 48,050 48,050 

Share premium  983,767 810,298 

Other reserves 9 412,235 412,235 

Retained loss  (1,024,058) (966,020) 

Total equity  419,994 304,563 

The Company’s loss for the year was $58,038,000 (2017: $17,093,000) 
 
Approved by and authorised for issue, and signed on behalf of, the Board of Directors 
 

Tony Rouse 
Director 
2 May 2019 
Company Number 5934263 
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Share capital 

$’000s 

Share 
premium 

$’000s 

Other 
reserves 

$’000s 

Profit and 
loss 

$’000s 
Total 

$’000s 

At 1 January 2017 48,050 810,298 412,235 (948,927) 321,656 

Loss for the year - - - (17,093) (17,093) 

At 1 December 2018 48,050 810,298 412,235 (966,020) 304,563 

Loss for the year - - - (58,038) (58,038) 

New ordinary shares issued to third parties - 173,469 - - 173,469 

At 31 December 2018 48,050 983,767 412,235 (1,024,058) 419,994 
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2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Cash flow from operating activities   

Loss before tax (58,038) (17,093) 

Adjustments for:   

 Interest revenue (757) (32) 

 Finance costs 25,931 10,654 

 Other financial losses (7) (40) 

    Impairment and (gain) loss on sale of businesses and fixed assets - (86) 

 Impairment of subsidiary receivables/investments 38,224 420 

Operating cash flow prior to movement in working capital 5,353 (6,177) 

Decrease/(Increase) in other current and non-current assets 15,722 (5,235) 

(Decrease)/Increase in other current and non-current payables (27,726) 5,400 
 

Net cash used in operating activities (6,651)                (6,012) 

Investing activities   

Loans to Group companies (6,695) (23,223) 

Investment in subsidiaries (54,751) - 

Interest received 757 32 

Net cash used in investing activities (60,689) (23,191) 

Financing activities   

Interest paid (14,591) (12,858) 

Proceeds/(repayment) of debt 150,000 - 

Investment/loans from parent company  11,200 31,989 

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities 146,609 19,131 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 79,269 (10,072) 
 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 599 10,460 

Effect of foreign exchange rate change - 211 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 79,868 599 
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1. Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies of the Company are disclosed in note 1 of the consolidated Financial Statements. 

2. Employee Numbers and Costs 

The monthly average number of Executive Directors was as follows: 

 
2018 

Number 
2017 

Number 

Professional 3 3 

Total employee numbers 3 3 

 

The aggregate remuneration was as follows: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Wages and salaries 474 689 

Pensions 33 39 

Social security 70 100 

Compensation for loss of office 80 43 

Total employee costs 657 871 

 

3. Investments 

The Group’s principal Subsidiaries and Jointly Controlled Entities are as set out in note 12 (for the parent company) to the 
consolidated Financial Statements, on pages 92 to 94. 

Fair value information regarding investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities has not been disclosed as their 
fair value cannot be measured reliably, as they are investments in unquoted group companies. 

2018 Impairments 
 
During the year there were no impairments. 
 
2017 Impairments 
During the year there was an impairment charge of $0.4 million. The impairment charge was recorded to reduce the 
carrying value of investments to their estimated recoverable amount of $423.4 million. The trigger for impairment was 
management’s assessment that no further expenditure on exploration and evaluation of hydrocarbons in a Block in 
Indonesia was budgeted or planned within the current licence terms. The recoverable amount was determined using the 
value in use of the underlying assets.  The value in use was determined using the discounted cash flow using a pre-tax 
discount rate of 8-22%. 
 

4. Bonds Payable 

See note 21 in the consolidated Financial Statements. 
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5. Loans from parent company  

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Amounts payable to the parent company 49,480 173,469 

Total other payables 49,480 173,469 

 

The Directors consider the carrying value of other payables approximates their fair value. 

6. Commitments and Guarantees 

Bank Guarantees 
At 31 December 2018, there were no outstanding bank guarantees issued by banks on behalf of the Company (2017: nil).  

7. Financial Instruments 

Full details of the Company’s risk management and financial instrument policies are shown in note 25 to the consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Categories of Financial Instruments 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Financial assets:   

Cash and bank balances 79,868 599 

Loans and receivables 95 314 

Loans to group companies 165,411 158,717 

Fair value – Derivatives  2,199 - 

Financial liabilities:   

Amortised cost 246,839 280,137 

Fair value - Derivatives - 3,582 

 

Interest Rate Risk 
If interest rates had been 0.5% higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Company’s loss for the year 
ended 31 December 2018 would have increased by $0.3 million by (2017: decreased of $0.03 million). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial Instruments – (continued) 

Liquidity Risk 
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The following tables detail the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the Company can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. 

 

 

2018 

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate 

% 
Within 1 year 

$’000s 
1–5 years 

$’000s 
5+ years 

$’000s 
Total  

$’000s 

Non-interest bearing n/a 49,480 - - 49,480 

Variable interest rate instruments: n/a - - 142,498 142,498 

Fixed interest rate instruments: n/a - - - - 

– Bond payable 9.75% - 104,341 - 104,341 

Total  49,480 104,341 142,498 296,319 

 

 

 

2017 

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate 

% 
Within 1 year 

$’000s 
1–5 years 

$’000s 
5+ years 

$’000s 
Total  

$’000s 

Non-interest bearing n/a 173,469 5,079 - 178,548 

Fixed interest rate instruments: n/a - - - - 

– Bond payable 9.75% 10,218 115,018 - 125,236 

Total  183,687 120,097 - 303,784 
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Financial Instruments – (continued) 

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost. 
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the 
Financial Statements approximate their fair values. 

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value 
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows. 

• The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid 
markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices (includes listed redeemable notes, bills of exchange, 
debentures and perpetual notes). 

• The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined in 
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable 
current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments. 

• The fair values of derivative instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, a 
discounted cash flow analysis is performed using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments for non-
optional derivatives, and option pricing models for optional derivatives. Foreign currency forward contracts are 
measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves derived from quoted interest rates matching maturities 
of the contracts. Interest rate swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted 
based on the applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates. 

Financial Assets and Liabilities 

Current assets and liabilities 

Management consider that due to the short term nature of current assets and liabilities, the carrying values equates to 
their fair value. 

Non-current assets and liabilities 

The carrying value and fair values of non-current financial instruments are shown in the following tables: 

 

As at 
31 Dec 2018 

$’000 

As at 
31 Dec 2018 

$’000 

As at 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

As at 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

 
Carrying 

value 
Estimated fair 

value 
Carrying 

value 
Estimated fair 

value 

Financial Liabilities:      

Bonds payable (104,371) (106,765) (101,589) (109,870) 

Loans from Group companies (6,352) (6,352) (5,079) (5,079) 

Total (110,723) (113,117) (106,668) (114,949) 

 

8. Related Party Transactions 

Transaction with Directors 
Transactions with Directors are included in the Note 4 in the Group financial statements. 
 
Related Party Transactions with Subsidiary Companies 
 
During the year, Ophir Energy plc made loans to the Company of $49.5 million (2017: $32 million). In addition $173.5 
million, (2017:$Nil) of these loans were capitalised as equity within the Company for 1 share. 
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The Company held balances with related parties at the balance sheet date as follows: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Investment in Salamander Energy Group Limited 423,389 423,389 

Investment in Ophir Jaguar 1 Limited 54,751 - 

Receivable from Salamander Energy Group Limited 164,646 158,716 

Payable to Ophir Energy plc (49,480) (173,469) 

Payable to Ophir Holdings & Services Ltd - (921) 

Payable to Ophir Energy Indonesia Limited (4,780) (4,158) 

Receivable from Ophir Energy Indonesia (West Papua IV) 1 Ltd - 126 

Receivable from Ophir Energy Indonesia (Kofiau) 1 Ltd 63 63 

Receivable from Ophir Energy Indonesia (Aru) Ltd - 126 

Payable to Ophir Thailand (Bualuang) Limited (112) - 

Payable to Ophir Jaguar 1 Limited (1,384) - 

Payable to Ophir Thailand (E&P) Limited (75) - 

Receivable from Salamander Energy (Malaysia) Ltd 396 - 

Receivable from Santos Sabah Block R Limited 363 - 

Receivable from Salamander Energy (SEA) Ltd 5 - 

 

Compensation of key management personnel, which the Company defines as its Directors, is disclosed in Note 4 of the 
Group financial statements. 
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9. Share Capital and other reserves 

Share capital as at 31 December 2018 amounted to $48,050,000 (2017: $48,050,000). 

Allotted and fully paid Equity Share Capital 

  

2018 
Ordinary Shares 

10p 
Number 

2017 
Ordinary 

Shares 
10p 

Number 

At 1 January 266,146,184 266,146,183 

At 31 December 266,146,184 266,146,183 

 
The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.  

Other reserves 

Other reserves comprise: 

 
2018 

$’000s 
2017 

$’000s 

Share based payment reserve 26,947 26,947 

Convertible bond 11,227 11,227 

Merger reserve 374,061 374,061 

Total other reserves 412,235 412,235 

 

10. Dividends 

The Company has declared no dividend for the year. 

 
11. Post Balance Sheet Events 

Please see note 34 of the Group financial statements for information on post balance sheet events. 
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12. Subsidiary companies 

This is a complete list of Salamander Energy plc Group companies at 31 December 2018, and Group’s percentage 

of share capital to the nearest whole number. All of these subsidiaries have been included in the consolidated 

financial statements on pages 28 to 82. 

                 Country of 
incorporation Location of operation                                   Registered Office Principal Activity 

Holding 
31 Dec 

2015 PHT Partners LP 

United States of America Thailand 

Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange 
Street, Wilmington, New Castle County, 

Delaware 19801 United States of 
America Holding 100% 

Ophir Indonesia 
(Bangkanai) Limited 

British Virgin Islands Indonesia 

        Jayla Place, Wickhams Cay 1 
Road Town, Tortola 

VG1110 
British Virgin Islands 

 
 

Exploration and 
Production 100% 

Salamander Energy 
(Bualuang Holdings) 
Limited England & Wales Thailand 

Level 4, 123 Victoria Street 
London, SW1E 6DE 

United Kingdom 
 

 

Exploration 100% 

Ophir Indonesia (Central 
Kalimantan) Limited 

Belize Indonesia 

Suite 102, Ground Floor 

Blake Building 

Corner Eyre & Hutson Streets 

Belize City 

Belize 
    Exploration 

and Production 100% 

Ophir Thailand (E&P) 
Limited 

England & Wales England & Wales 

Level 4, 123 Victoria Street 
London, SW1E 6DE 

United Kingdom 
 

 

Holding 100% 
Salamander Energy 
(Glagah Kambuna) 
Limited 

British Virgin Islands Thailand 

                     Jayla Place, Wickhams Cay 1 
Road Town, Tortola 

VG1110 
British Virgin Islands 

 
 

    Exploration 100% 
Ophir Indonesia 
(Kerendan) Limited 

Mauritius Indonesia 

           Ebene Esplanade, 24 Cybercity 

Ebene 

 Mauritius 

 
 

Exploration and 
Production 100% 

Ophir Indonesia (Kutai) 
Limited 

England & Wales Indonesia 

           Level 4, 123 Victoria Street 
London SW1E 6DE 

United Kingdom 
 

 

Exploration 100% 
Salamander Energy (Lao) 
Company Limited 

Lao PDR Lao 

LS Horizon (Lao) Limited 

Unit 4/1.1, 4th Floor Simuong 
Commercial Center  

Fa Ngum Road, Phia Vat Village 

Sisatanak District Vientiane 
Lao People's Democratic Republic Exploration 100% 
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Salamander Energy 
(Malaysia) Limited 

British Virgin Islands Malaysia 

Jayla Place, Wickhams Cay 1 
Road Town, Tortola 

VG1110 
British Virgin Islands 
 

 

Exploration 100% 
Ophir Indonesia (North 
East Bangkanai) Limited 

British Virgin Islands Indonesia 

       Jayla Place, Wickhams Cay 1 
Road Town, Tortola 

VG1110 
British Virgin Islands 

 
 

Exploration 100% 
Salamander Energy 
(North Sumatra) Limited 

British Virgin Islands Indonesia 

Jayla Place, Wickhams Cay 1 
Road Town, Tortola 

VG1110 
British Virgin Islands 
 

 

Exploration 100% 
Salamander Energy (S.E. 
Asia) Limited 

England & Wales England & Wales 

Level 4, 123 Victoria Street 
London SW1E 6DE 

United Kingdom 
 

 

 100% 
Ophir Indonesia (S.E. 
Sangatta) Limited 

England & Wales Indonesia 

Level 4, 123 Victoria Street 
London SW1E 6DE 

United Kingdom 
 

 

Exploration 100% 
Ophir Indonesia (South 
Sokang) Limited 

England & Wales Indonesia 

Level 4, 123 Victoria Street 
London SW1E 6DE 

United Kingdom 
 

 
Exploration 100% 

Salamander Energy 
(Thailand) Co. Ltd 

Thailand Thailand 

28th Floor, Unit 2802 Q House Lumpini 
Building 1 South Sathorn Road 

Tungmahamek Sathorn District 
Bangkok 10120 Thailand Exploration 100% 

Ophir Indonesia (West 
Bangkanai) Limited 

British Virgin Islands Indonesia 

  Jayla Place, Wickhams Cay 1 
Road Town, Tortola 

VG1110 
                                  British Virgin Islands 

 
 

Exploration 

100% 

Salamander Energy 
Group Limited 

     England & Wales England & Wales 

Level 4, 123 Victoria Street 
London SW1E 6DE 

United Kingdom 
 

 

Holding 

100% 

Ophir Malaysia (Block 
2A) Limited 

   British Virgin Islands Malaysia 

Jayla Place, Wickhams Cay 1 
PO Box 3190 

       Road Town, Tortola VG 1110 British                                                                                        
Virgin Islands 

Exploration 

100% 

Ophir Cote d’Ivoire (CI-
513) Limited 

British Virgin Islands Cote d’Ivoire 

Jayla Place, Wickhams Cay 1 
Road Town, Tortola 

VG1110 
British Virgin Islands 
 

 

Exploration 

100% 

Ophir Thailand 
(Bualuang) Limited 

British Virgin Islands Thailand 

Jayla Place, Wickhams Cay 1 
Road Town, Tortola 

VG1110 
British Virgin Islands 
 

 

Exploration and 
Production 

100% 

Salamander Energy 
(Holdco) Limited 

England & Wales England & Wales 

Level 4, 123 Victoria Street 
London SW1E 6DE 

United Kingdom 
 

 

Holding 

100% 

Ophir Energy Indonesia 
Limited 

England & Wales Indonesia 

Level 4, 123 Victoria Street 
London SW1E 6DE 

United Kingdom 
 

 

Holding 

100% 

Salamander Energy (JS) 
Limited 

England & Wales Indonesia 

Level 4, 123 Victoria Street 
London SW1E 6DE 

United Kingdom 
 

 
Exploration 

100% 

Ophir Jaguar 1 Limited 

British Virgin Islands British Virgin Islands 

Jayla Place, Wickhams Cay 1,  
Road Town, Tortola,  

VG1110 
British Virgin Islands 

Holding 

100% 

Ophir Jaguar 2 Limited 

British Virgin Islands British Virgin Islands 

Jayla Place, Wickhams Cay 1,  
Road Town, Tortola,  

VG1110 
British Virgin Islands 

Holding 

100% 

Santos Sabah Block R 
Limited 

England & Wales England & Wales 

Level 4, 123 Victoria Street 
London SW1E 6DE 

United Kingdom 
Exploration 

100% 



 

Salamander Energy plc Annual Report and Accounts for 2018      Page 94       

 

Santos SPV Pty Ltd 

Australia Australia 

Level 1, 38 Station Street 
Subiaco  WA 6008 

Australia Holding 

100% 

Santos (Madura 
Offshore) Pty Ltd 

Australia Australia 

Level 1, 38 Station Street 
Subiaco  WA 6008 

Australia Production 

100% 

Santos (Sampang) Pty 
Ltd 

Australia Australia 

Level 1, 38 Station Street 
Subiaco  WA 6008 

Australia Production & 
Exploration 

100% 

Santos Petroleum 
Ventures B.V 

Netherlands Netherlands 

Thomas R., Malthusstraat 1 
1066 JR, Amsterdam 

Netherlands 
 

Production 

100% 

Santos Asia Pacific Pty Ltd                                          
  

                               Australia Australia 

Level 1, 38 Station Street  
Subiaco WA 6008  

Australia 

 
 

Production 

100% 

 

* Shares held directly by Salamander Energy plc. 
    

All shares are ordinary shares.     
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$ or US Dollar  United States Dollar 

£  UK Pounds Sterling 

€ Euro 

Bbl Barrel 

Bcf Billion of standard cubic feet 

boepd Barrels of oil equivalent per day 

boe Barrels of oil equivalent 

bopd Barrels of oil per day 

E&P Exploration and production 

FPSO Floating Production Storage Offtake 

FSO Floating Storage Offtake 

GDP Gross domestic product 

GHG Greenhouse Gases 

GSA Gas sales agreement 

HSE Health, Safety and Environmental 

IFC International Finance Corporation 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

km2 sq km 

LNG Liquid natural gas 

LTI  
Lost Time Injury: a fatality or lost work day case. The number of LTIs is the sum of fatalities 
and lost work day cases 

LTIFR Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (per million man hours worked) 

Mbo Thousand barrels of oil 

Mbopd Thousand barrels of oil per day 

Mboepd Thousand barrels of oil equivalent per day 

MMbo Million barrels of oil 

MMboe Millions barrels of oil equivalent 

Mscf Thousand standard cubic feet of gas 

MMscfd Million standard cubic feet per day of gas 

OGP Oil and Gas Producers 

PSC Production Sharing Contract 

PSP Performance Share Plan 

TRIR 
Total Recordable Injury Rate: the number of recordable injuries (fatalities + lost workday 
cases + restricted workday cases +  medical treatment cases) per 1,000,000 hours worked 
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